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Facts
Strategic  
Realization of value – favourable market environment leads to 
decision to sell German portfolio  – expected net proceeds  
of approx. CHF 55 million to be reinvested into targeted value- 
generating growth  
 

Portfolio  
Market value of the Swiss portfolio rose by 1.3% to CHF 198.5 mil- 
lion – overall vacancy rate improved by 2 percentage points to 
10.6% including the problematic Arco West property in Berne – 
vacancy rate for rest of portfolio remains very low at 1%  
 

Financials  
Multiple factors contributed to the considerably improved results – 
profit of CHF 29.9 million or CHF 9.02 per share – share price  
of CHF 21.95 is 41% below net asset value (NAV) per share of  
CHF 36.82 – balance sheet of CHF 384 million mainly consists  
of investment properties in Switzerland and assets held for sale in 
Germany – equity ratio of 31.8%
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Key figures

in CHF million 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

1.4.2014 
to 31.3.2015

1.4.2013 
to 31.3.2014

1.4.2012 
to 31.3.2013

Income statement

from continuing operations

Rental income  8.0  7.9  21.6  32.7  55.0 

Change in market value of investment properties  2.4  5.7  –33.5  –28.2  –81.0 

EBITDA  3.4  2.5  13.2  21.7  35.0 

Earnings  29.9  –18.9  –212.2  –63.8  –89.4 

- from continuing operations  2.1  1.2  –84.2  –49.6  n.a. 

- from discontinuing operations  27.8  –20.1  –128.0  –14.1  n.a. 

EPRA Return on equity 19.9% –15.1% –301.8% –24.1% –26.9%

Balance sheet

Investment properties  357  331  531  791  1 065 

- from continuing operations  198  196  322  n.a.  n.a. 

- from discontinuing operations  159  135  209  n.a.  n.a. 

Equity  122  90  26  224  264 

Equity Ratio 31.8% 25.1% 4.8% 26.6% 23.1%

EPRA Equity  151  126  70  265  332 

EPRA Equity ratio 39.2% 35.3% 12.7% 31.5% 29.1%

Mortgages  205  210  370  485  700 

- from continuing operations  108  108  218  n.a.  n.a. 

- from discontinuing operations  97  102  152  n.a.  n.a. 

Loan to value 57.4% 63.4% 69.7% 61.3% 65.7%

- from continuing operations 54.4% 55.1% 67.9%  n.a.  n.a. 

- from discontinuing operations 61.2% 75.4% 72.5%  n.a.  n.a. 

The above Key figures are either deduced directly from the consolidated income statement or balance sheet, explained in the definition of terms on pages 147 to 149 or calculated in the  
EPRA Performance Measures on pages 123 to 126.
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in CHF million 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

1.4.2014 
to 31.3.2015 

1.4.2013 
to 31.3.2014

1.4.2012 
to 31.3.2013

Key figures per share in CHF

Earnings of shareholders  9.02  –5.70  –65.03  –20.04  –31.00 

- from continuing operations  0.64  0.40  –32.08  –18.91  –31.00 

- from discontinuing operations  8.38  –6.10  –32.95  –1.14 n.a.

NAV per share  36.82  26.98  9.10  68.11  80.78 

EPRA NAV per share  45.39  37.93  24.66  81.53  102.83 

Share price  21.95  18.50  24.75  44.10  53.33 

Portfolio

Annual rental income  18.8  19.1  24.0  32.7  53.1 

- from continuing operations  8.1  7.9  18.8  23.4 n.a.

- from discontinuing operations  10.7  11.2  5.2  9.3 n.a.

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) 4.6% 4.9% 2.8% 2.1% 5.2%

- from continuing operations 3.7% 3.7% 4.7%  n.a.  n.a. 

- from discontinuing operations 5.7% 7.0% 0.6%  n.a.  n.a. 

Average interest rate 1.3% 1.3% 2.6% 4.1% 4.4%

- from continuing operations 0.9% 0.8% 2.0%  n.a.  n.a. 

- from discontinuing operations 1.8% 1.8% 3.5%  n.a.  n.a. 

Vacancy rate monetary 10.7% 9.0% 41.4% 42.9% 10.5%

- from continuing operations 10.6% 12.4% 13.7% 20.5% n.a.

- from discontinuing operations 10.8% 6.4% 72.8% 66.5% n.a.

The above Key figures are either deduced directly from the consolidated income statement or balance sheet, explained in the definition of terms on pages 147 to 149 or calculated in the  
EPRA Performance Measures on pages 123 to 126.
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from left
Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman / CEO 
Vladislav Osipov, Member

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member
Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member

Letter to  
our Shareholders

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG (Züblin) completed the financial year 2016/17 with a profit of CHF 29.9 million (CHF 9.02 per share), 
compared with an overall net loss of CHF 18.9 million in the previous year. An improved asset management performance in Swit-
zerland, cost reductions resulting from the restructuring measures initiated in 2014 and a favourable market environment all con-
tributed to the positive result. The decision to sell the German portfolio (disclosed as a discontinued operation) to take advan-
tage of the attractive market dynamics for office properties in Germany had a further positive impact on performance. The 
planned transaction had a positive impact of CHF 13 million on reported profit, and is expected to be completed within the first 
half of the financial year 2017/18. When the transaction closes, the expected net inflow of around CHF 55 million will be reinvest-
ed into carefully selected investment opportunities to ensure continued value-generating growth; in addition, the Board of Direc-
tors may consider proposing a dividend to the shareholders at an Annual General Meeting. In combination with the solid portfo-
lio in Switzerland, we expect these measures to support the share price and help close the current discount of 41% to net asset 
value (NAV).

Dear Shareholders,
Ladies and Gentlemen,
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After Züblin Group reported a profit in September 2016 for the first time since March 2012, the Group also significantly increased its 
profit in the second half of financial year 2016/17. Multiple factors contributed to the improved results. Successful letting activities led to 
rental income of CHF 8.0 million in the continuing Swiss operations, up 1.4% from the previous year. Strong rental income combined 
with the continued supportive market environment led to positive valuation effects of CHF 2.4 million. Administrative expenses amount-
ed to CHF 4.2 million, down around 16% from the previous year thanks to cost savings and the release of reserves. More importantly, 
the restructuring measures implemented by the company lowered net financial expenses by around CHF 6.4 million to CHF 2.4 million. 
EBIT amounted to CHF 5.8 million. Profit before tax from continuing operations in Switzerland rose by CHF 4.4 million to CHF 3.8 million 
(compared to the prior-year loss of CHF 0.6 million) or CHF 2.1 million after tax. Including the results from discontinued operations, the 
company achieved an annual profit of CHF 29.9 million (CHF 9.02 per share), compared to a loss of CHF 18.9 million (CHF –5.70 per 
share) in the prior year.

Investment demand for office properties in good locations with low vacancy rates is very high in Germany and this has created a seller’s 
market. This opened the door for Züblin to realize value at attractive levels. The Board of Directors therefore decided to sell the German 
portfolio and selected Colliers International as the exclusive transaction agent. Selected bidders analysed the portfolio. A transaction 
is currently being negotiated with the aim of completing it within a few months. It is expected that a sale would be completed at a price 
approximately CHF 13 million higher than the appraised value of the properties, underlining the attractiveness of the transaction for 
Züblin and its shareholders. A successful sale would generate net proceeds of approximately CHF 55 million and enable Züblin to grow 
the portfolio again subsequently. 

The overall market value of the Swiss portfolio rose by 1.3% or CHF 2.6 million. This upward revaluation reflected reduced investor yield 
expectations on the one hand, which leads to a market-driven increase in valuations, but also negative adjustments to forecast rental 
income from the Arco West property in Berne. As at 31 March 2017, the value of the Swiss portfolio was CHF 198.5 million. The overall 
vacancy rate of the Swiss properties improved by 2 percentage points as at 31 March 2017 to 10.6%. However, the vacancy rate ex-
cluding the challenging Arco West property remains very low at 1%. All properties are in good locations, have a solid tenant base and 
are well maintained; Arco West is currently being repositioned. 89% of the total portfolio value relates to properties located in the Zurich 
area and 90% of the total rental income originates from these properties.

Züblin ended the financial year 2016/17 with a solid balance sheet. The restructuring measures launched in 2014 and successfully com-
pleted in 2016 paid off and resulted in the elimination of almost all legacy financial burdens. The balance sheet of CHF 384 million now 
consists of the investment properties in Switzerland valued at CHF 198.5 million and the assets held for sale in Germany of CHF 167.8 
million. The equity ratio was 31.8% at the end of the reporting period, while the LTV stood at 54.4%.

Profit increase

Substantial value realization 
through sale of the German port-
folio

Market value of Swiss portfolio 
CHF 198.5 million

Strengthened balance sheet
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The positive earnings led to a significant increase in net asset value (NAV) to CHF 36.82 as of the balance sheet date, compared to 
CHF 26.98 a year ago. However, the share price does not yet reflect the positive consequences of the restructuring measures and the 
resulting upturn in operational profitability. Including the positive impact on net profit from the planned sale of the German assets, the 
company generated a profit per share of CHF 9.02 in the year under review. Nevertheless, as of 31 March 2017 the share price stood 
at CHF 21.95, which represents a 41% discount to NAV. The Board is convinced that the attractive Swiss portfolio combined with new 
reinvestment opportunities after the completion of the German transaction will contribute to a narrowing of this discount in financial 
year 2017/18.

Mr. Iakov Tesis, a member of the Board of Directors of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG since 2014, stepped down from his role on 21 
March 2017. Mr. Tesis informed the company that he could no longer fulfil his duties as a member of the Board of Directors of Züblin due 
to his other commitments. The Board of Directors would like to thank Mr. Tesis for his outstanding contribution during the demanding 
restructuring phase. The four remaining board members will all stand for re-election at the upcoming Annual General Meeting and, if 
elected, form a balanced Board of Directors consisting of two independent directors, an executive director, and one board member 
who is related to the majority shareholder. 

Regarding the operational management of Züblin, Roland Friederich, formerly Head of Group Reporting, replaced Thomas Wapp as 
CFO and member of Group Management effective 1 December 2016.

Züblin expects to complete the sale of the German portfolio in the first half of the financial year 2017/18. If the transaction is completed, 
the expected net cash inflow of approx. CHF 55 million will be reinvested into carefully selected investment opportunities to enable further 
growth of shareholder value. Upon completion of the transaction, Züblin will be well positioned for targeted growth initiatives that ensure 
the company continues to generate value going forward. Züblin is therefore currently monitoring all segments of the real estate market 
to identify options with the potential to offer attractive risk-adjusted returns. In addition, the Board of Directors may consider proposing 
a dividend to the shareholders at a General Meeting.

  

	

	

	
Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik   Roland Friederich
Chairman & CEO  CFO

Net asset value of CHF 36.82 per 
share compared to a share price of 
CHF 21.95

Changes in the Board of Directors 
and Group Management

Outlook for financial year 2017/18 
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Portfolio overview

CHF/EUR in million Switzerland 1 Germany 2 Total

Market value CHF 198.5 158.7 357.2

EUR 185.6 148.4 333.9

% 55.6 44.4 100.0

Number of properties 5 12 17 

Annual rental income CHF 8.1 10.7 18.8 

EUR 7.6 10.0 17.6 

Vacancy rate % 10.6 10.8 10.7

Office m² 21 939 77 719 99 658 

Retail m² 2 005 4 217 6 222 

Trade/logistics m² 0 922 922 

Other m² 4 151 4 256 8 407 

Total usable area m² 28 095 87 114 115 209 

1  continuing operations
2  discontinued operations
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The change in annual rental income between 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 is explained by the following factors:

CHF/EUR in million Switzerland 
CHF

Germany 
EUR

31.3.2016 7.9 10.2

Change in vacancy 0.2 –0.3

Rental adjustments 0.0 0.1

31.3.2017 8.1 10.0

Analysis of annual rental income

Portfolio by markets % Portfolio by investment category in % 

Office  
99

Retail
1

Switzerland 
56

Germany 
44
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Tenant Sector % share of  
annual rental income

Baker & McKenzie, Zurich Law firm 15.6%

Bosch Group, Stuttgart Technology 7.6%

Roland Berger, Zurich Consulting 7.5%

Panalpina Welttransport (D) GmbH, Hamburg Logistic 3.2%

Alpine Electronics GmbH, Stuttgart Technology 2.8%

Total 36.7%

Major tenants

4 to 5 
years

5 to 6 
years

6 to 7 
years

7 to 8 
years

more than 8
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

1 to 2 
years

1 to 12
months

unlimited

0.0

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

 Actual rent: based on effective rental income from expiring leases.
  Market rent: based on the assumption that expiring leases will be extended or renewed at current market rents.

Lease contract analysis  
CHF in million
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Portfolio Switzerland

The portfolio performed positively in the last financial year. Particularly in the challenging properties in Bern and Egg, which are both 
located outside the Central Business District (CBD’s), various rental extensions and new lettings led to a drop in the vacancy rate by 1.8 
percentage points to 10.6%. In Züblin’s current main investment area, Zurich, the vacancy rate is now a very low 1% as compared to 1.7% 
in the previous year. 90% of rental income is generated in this area. These properties account for 89% of the total Swiss portfolio value.

The positive development of the portfolio as well as the investment market led to an upward revaluation in the Swiss portfolio by CHF 
2.4 million. This increase is the result both of an increase in annual rental income by CHF 0.2 million and a downward adjustment in the 
capitalization and discount rate. The latter is again an expression of the continuing negative interest rate environment and the resulting 
hunt for yield on the capital market. 

Market indicators for the Zurich office market weakened further last year and space availability increased year-on-year. Fast growing 
sub-markets, e.g. Zurich West, Oerlikon and Wallisellen, led to intensified competition in the office market and an oversupply of large 
developments. The letting situation for large-scale units remains challenging whereas the market for smaller office units shows fairly 
good potential.

On the investment market, the demand for stable income and low-risk office real estate remains very high due to macroeconomic 
conditions.

Portfolio development

Market developments
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CHF/EUR in million 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Market value in CHF 198.5 195.9

Annual rental income in CHF 8.1 7.9

Vacancy rate 10.6% 12.4%

Portfolio overview

Bern
11

Zürich
89

Office
100

Portfolio by regions in % Portfolio by investment category in % 



Page
15

 Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report
Financial Report Group

Tenant Sector % share of  
annual rental income

Portfolio Switzerland Total

Baker & McKenzie, Zurich Law firm 36.1% 15.6%

Roland Berger, Zurich Consulting 17.2% 7.5%

BR Bauhandel AG, Bern Distribution 4.7% 2.0%

Logismata AG, Zurich Information technology 2.6% 1.1%

Globomedica AG, Egg Pharma 2.4% 1.1%

Total 63.1% 27.3%

Major tenants

  Actual rent: based on effective rental income from expiring leases.
 Market rent: based on the assumption that expiring leases will be extended or renewed at current market rents.

Lease contract analysis  
CHF in million

4 to 5
years

5 to 6
years

6 to 7
years

7 to 8
years

more than 8
years

2 to 3
years

3 to 4
years

1 to 2
years

1 to 12
months

unlimited

0.0

3.5

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5
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Prop. No. City, address Property 
certifi-
cates

Züblin  
EMS

Date of  
acquisition

Year of  
construc-

tion/ 
renovation

Annual  
rental 

 income  
CHF 1000

Vacancy 
(CHF) 

 %

Capitalisa-
tion rate 

in %

Discount  
rate 

(nominal) %

Owner-
ship

Plot size  
m2 

Office  
m2

Retail  
m2

Trade/ 
logistics  

m2

Other 
space 

m2

Total  
usable 
space 

m2

Vacancy 
m2

Vacancy 
(m2)  

%

No. of  
parking  
spaces

Investment category Office

1 Baden,  
Rütistrasse 3/3a

1.3.2000 1961 
2012

1 036 2.0 3.80 4.30 □  1 172 3 385  404  -   1 185 4 974  87 1.7 6

2 Egg,  
Gewerbestrasse 12/12a

M 1.4.2000 1982/87 
2012

995 5.1 4.40 4.90 □  4 894 4 100  -    -   1 581 5 681  258 4.5 110

3 Zurich,  
Hardturmstrasse 76

20.3.2000 1967 
2010

953 0.0 3.50 4.00 □  1 100 3 099  -    -   608 3 707  -   0.0 26

4 Zurich,  
Holbeinstrasse 22/30

M 1.7.2008 1961/72 
2010

4 330 0.0 3.00 3.50 □  1 660 5 524  -    -   279 5 803  -   0.0 45

Total region of Zurich  7 314 1.0  8 826  16 108  404  -    3 653  20 165  345 1.7  187 

5 Bern,  
Morgenstrasse 136

M 1.6.2000 1991 
2013

803 52.5 4.70 5.20 □  2 740  5 831  1 601  498  7 930  4 598 58.0 89

Total Swiss portfolio  8 117 10.6  11 566  21 939  2 005  -    4 151  28 095  4 943 17.6  276 

□  Ownership of 100% M Minergie Energie-Monitoring-Systems (EMS) existing

Energie-Monitoring-Systems (EMS) in planning
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Portfolio Germany

The portfolio continued to perform positively over the past twelve months. Asset management actively worked on further improving 
the letting situation in view of Züblin’s intention to sell the German portfolio. The expected fall in annual rental income due to the ter-
mination of a major lease in Hamburg was partially compensated by new lettings. Annual rental income declined by EUR 0.2 million 
compared to the prior year. The economic vacancy rate rose from 6.4% to 10.8%.

At the property in Stuttgart, Mittlerer Pfad 9, the lease agreement with long-term tenant Bosch was extended in terms of space 
and duration. Bosch is now leasing the entire property for a term of ten years starting from the completion of the tenant fit-out. This 
results in a weighted average lease term (WALT) of eleven years for the property. In Stuttgart, Mittlerer Pfad 2-4, further new lettings 
were agreed and rental income rose by 9% during the reporting period. The lease agreement with the main tenant Panalpina in Ham-
burg, Nagelsweg 37-39, was extended by five years on the basis of reduced space. The newly vacant space enabled us to exploit 
the current strong demand for office space in the Hamburg sub-market of City-Süd. We signed a new long-term tenancy agreement 
for ten years with the tenant “BAD”, which has also helped to diversify the tenant structure. The WALT of this property is about five 
years. By extending two leases in Germering, Streiflacher Str. 7, WALT rose to over six years.

Office properties were the most important asset class in 2016 with a transaction volume of EUR 23 billion, contributing 44% to com-
mercial investment turnover. Investment demand remains very strong due to the continuing record highs in the letting market. Office 
space turnover within the eight most important German office locations totalled 3.7 million m2 in 2016, up 7% on the previous year 
and the highest figure ever recorded.

The market outlook for 2017 is for a continuation of the strong uptrend of recent years combined with stable economic growth. Em-
ployment is at record levels and unemployment has fallen steadily which creates a very strong underpinning for the office real estate 
market in Germany. 

Based on the good economic backdrop and favourable real estate market environment the Board of Directors has decided to take 
advantage of this opportunity and realize the portfolio values at their current attractive levels. A transaction is currently being negotiated 
with the aim of closing the deal within the first half of the new financial year. The targeted sales price for the German portfolio is around 
CHF 13 million higher than the appraised value which underlines the attractiveness of the transaction for Züblin and its shareholders. 
The German portfolio is therefore presented as discontinued operation in the annual report.
.

Portfolio development

Market development
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CHF/EUR in million 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Market value in CHF 158.7 135.4

Market value in EUR 148.4 123.9

Annual rental income in CHF 10.7 11.1

Annual rental income in EUR 10.0 10.2

Vacancy rate 10.8% 6.4%

Portfolio overview

Office
98

Retail
2

Portfolio by regions in % Portfolio by investment category in %

Stuttgart
35

Hamburg
36

Others
8

Düsseldorf
21
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Tenant Sector % share of  
annual rental income

Portfolio Germany Total

Bosch Group, Stuttgart Technology 13.5% 7.6%

Panalpina Welttransport (D) GmbH, Hamburg Logistic 5.6% 3.2%

Alpine Electronics GmbH, Stuttgart Technology 4.9% 2.8%

Level 3 Communications GmbH, Stuttgart Technology 2.5% 1.4%

Rechenzentrum Land NRW, Düsseldorf Government 1.8% 1.0%

Total 28.4% 16.1%

Major tenants

4 to 5
years

5 to 6
years

6 to 7
years

7 to 8
years

more than 8
years

2 to 3
years

3 to 4
years

1 to 2
years

1 to 12
months

unlimited

0.0

3.5

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

 Actual rent: based on effective rental income from expiring leases.
   Market rent: based on the assumption that expiring leases will be extended or renewed at current market rents.

Lease contract analysis  
EUR in million
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Prop. No. City, address Property 
certifi-
cates

Züblin  
EMS

Date of  
acquisition

Year of  
construc-

tion/ 
renovation

Annual  
rental 

 income  
CHF 1000

Vacancy  
(CHF) 

%

Capitalisa-
tion rate 

in %

Discount 
rate  

(nominal) %

Owner-
ship

Plot size 
 m2 

Office  
m2

Retail 
 m2

Trade/ 
logistics  

m2

Other 
space 

m2

Total  
usable 
space 

m2

Vacancy  
m2

Vacancy  
(m2)  

%

No. of  
parking  
spaces

Investment category Office

6 Hamburg, 
 A.-Einstein-Ring 17-21

1.1.1999 1992  1 455 26.6 7.50 8.75 □  7 538  13 590  −    −    340  13 930  3 814 27.4 246

7 Hamburg,  
Nagelsweg  37, 39

1.1.1999 1986  1 197 16.1 6.25 6.75 □  4 616  8 873  −    −    490  9 363  1 534 16.4 191

8 Hamburg,  
Wandsbeker Zollstr. 11-19

1.1.1999 1970 
2002

 951 4.6 6.00 7.25 □  2 901  6 531  −    −    782  7 313  328 4.5 100

Total region of Hamburg  3 602 18.2  15 055  28 994  −    −    1 612  30 606  5 676 18.5 537

9 Dusseldorf,   
Rossstrasse 96

1.11.2001 1984 
2009

 1 083 0.8 6.50 7.75 □  1 315  6 393  −    −    46  6 439  19 0.3 75

10 Dortmund,  
Hansastrasse 30

DGNB 1.7.2004 1986 
2011

 504 9.8 6.00 7.00 □  627  3 015  544  −    286  3 845  405 10.5 0

11 Witten,  
Marktstrasse 2

1.7.2004 2002  415 6.4 6.75 8.25 □  687  1 780  1 110  −    620  3 510  673 19.2 0

Total region of Dusseldorf  2 002 4.4  2 629  11 188  1 654  −    952  13 794  1 097 8.0 75

12 Stuttgart,  
Vor dem Lauch 14

1.1.2000 1982  955 8.4 8.50 9.00 □  6 880  7 788  −    547  333  8 668  1 023 11.8 180

13 Stuttgart,  
Mittlerer Pfad 2-4

1.12.2000 1991  2 064 1.8 6.50 7.50 □  8 521  15 816  −    −    710  16 526  204 1.2 414

14 Stuttgart,  
Mittlerer Pfad 9

1.6.2000 1991  830 18.2 6.00 6.00 □  3 620  7 348  −    375  123  7 845  1 597 20.4 121

Total region of Stuttgart  3 849 7.4  19 021  30 952  −    922  1 166  33 039  2 824 8.5 715

15 Wiesbaden,  
Kreuzberger Ring 24

1.8.2001 2001  478 4.6 7.50 8.00 □  2 372  3 631  −    −    77  3 708  228 6.1 98

16 Munich-Germering,  
Streiflacher Strasse 7

1.3.2002 1999  406 0.0 6.00 7.25 □  2 512  2 954  −    −    449  3 403  269 7.9 70

Total others regions  883 2.5  4 884  6 585  −    −    526  7 111  497 7.0 168

Total office  10 337 10.6  41 589  77 719  1 654  922  4 256  84 550  10 094 11.9  1 495 

Investment category  Retail

17 Marl,  
Marler Stern 1-80

1.7.2004 1974  320 15.7 10.00 12.50 ○  2 222  -    2 563  −    −    2 563  487 19.0 0

Total retail  320 15.7  2 222  -    2 563  −    -    2 563  487 19.0  −   

Total German portfolio  10 657 10.8  43 811  77 719  4 217  922  4 256  87 113  10 581 12.1  1 495 

□   Ownership of 100%
DGNB Deutsche Gesellschaft für Nachhaltiges Bauen Energie-Monitoring-Systems (EMS) existing

Energie-Monitoring-Systems (EMS) in planning
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Strategy development 

During the financial year 2015/16 Züblin launched a strategic development 
initiative: the return to core markets, stabilization of the financial and oper-
ational business and finally growth. 

In the year under review the company continued working on implementing 
the necessary measures to support the strategy. Today, by selling the 
German portfolio, Züblin wants to take advantage of the current favora-
ble market conditions enabling the company to subsequently reinvest the 
 expected proceeds to fuel targeted future growth.

Züblin’s near-term aim is therefore to first regain a strong foothold in 
 Switzerland but expand into selected investment segments and/or core 
markets at a later stage. By reaching a strengthened market position, the 
company may then start transferring its new business model into other 
geographical markets in the medium term. The initial focus will however 
remain on stable European regions.

Short-term geographical focus

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG                                          - For discussion purpose –0

Kurzfristiger geografischer Fokus

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG                                          - For discussion purpose –0

Kurzfristiger geografischer Fokus

Core market 
Divestment

55–75%

10–30%
5–25%
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Corporate Governance

Transparency creates trust. Züblin views Corporate Governance as the way in which the management of the company is organized 
so as to achieve a balance between efficient decision-making processes, transparency and control. This enables the company to 
protect the interests of its shareholders, while generating added value for all stakeholders, thereby underpinning the company’s 
success in the long term. Züblin has been in compliance with the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance and meets 
the requirements laid down in the “Directive on Information Relating to Corporate Governance” of SIX Swiss Exchange.
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Züblin Immobilien 
Holding AG

Züblin Immobilien 
Management AG

Züblin Immobilière 
France SA

Züblin 
Immobilien AG
(5 properties in 
Switzerland)

ZUB
Immobilien GmbH

ZIAG Immobilien AG
(10 properties in 
Germany)

Mittlerer Pfad 2–4  
Immobilien GmbH  
(1 property in Germany)

Weilimmo AG  
(1 property in Germany)

33.5% 1

1  loss of controll following ZIHAG’s economic withdrawl from the French market as of 31 July 2015

1.1 Group structure
1.1.1 Overview

Ownership stakes
Züblin Immobilien Holding AG holds - except for Officiis Properties SA (formerly Züblin Immobilière France SA) - directly or indirectly 
100% of all companies shown in above group structure.

Following the economic withdraw from the French market Züblin holds a participation of 33.5% (17.3% on a fully diluted basis) and 
granted the Officiis Properties SA an option to buy its stake at a price depending on the financial vacancy rate of the French portfolio.

1.1.2 Listed companies
Holding company: Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, with its registered office in Zurich, is the holding company of the Züblin Group. It is 
listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (Ticker symbol: ZUBN, ISIN CH0132 309 682) and had a market capitalization of CHF 72.8 million 
as of 31 March 2017.

1.1.3 Non-listed shareholdings
All other Group companies are shown in detail on page 119.

1. Group structure and  
shareholders
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1.2 Significant shareholders

Number of shares registered in the commercial register as of 31 March 2017: 3 318 027

 31.3.2017

Lamesa Holding SA, Panama 40.74%

Ketom AG, Wollerau 5.55%

Number of  
shareholders

% Number of 
shares

%

Registered shares

1 to 10 573 27% 1 959 0%

11 to 50 387 18% 10 590 0%

51 to 100 212 10% 15 235 0%

101 to 500 556 27% 135 799 4%

501 to 10 000 349 17% 597 148 18%

10 001 to 99 540 14 1% 448 460 14%

99 541 (3%) and more 1 0% 1 351 827 41%

Total registered 2 092 100% 2 561 018 77%

Non-registered 757 009 23%

Total shares 3 318 027 100%

Registered shareholders

Individuals 1 963 94% 630 177 25%

Legal entities 129 6% 1 930 841 75%

Total registered 2 092 100% 2 561 018 100%

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings with other companies.

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is 
aware of the following sharehold-
ers with holdings exceeding a 
disclosure threshold:

Shareholders as of 31 March 2017
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2.1 Share capital as of 31 March 2017

Ordinary Capital CHF 74 655 607.50
Divided into 3 318 027 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 22.50 per share.

The registered shares are unitary shares, giving all shareholders the same rights in the Company’s capital and the same participation
rights. There are no restrictions on transferability. Only shareholders listed in the share register may exercise their participation rights.
Shareholders are listed with voting rights in the share register if they explicitly declare that they have acquired the shares in their own
name and for their own account. The voting and other rights of treasury shares are suspended.
The shares take the form of book-entry securities, and are not documented in a multiple share document, in certificates, in an individual
share document or in any other form. Shareholders are not entitled to request delivery of a share certificate, but may request confirma-
tion of their status as a shareholder from the Company at any time. The Company maintains a book-entry security ledger in accordance
with Art. 973c of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

For the exact wording of the regulations, please refer to the Company’s articles of association, which are available on the Company’s
website www.zueblin.ch or can be ordered directly from the Company.

2.2 Authorized and conditional capital

2.2.1 Authorized Share Capital
Following the approval of the Sharehoolders at the EGM on 29 February 2016 the Board of Directors is authorized until 28 October 2017 
to increase the share capital by a maximum amount of CHF 37 327 792.50 by issuance of a maximum number of 1 659 013 fully paid 
up registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 22.50 each.

2.2.2 Conditional Share Capital
Following the approval of the Shareholders at the EGM on 29 February 2016 the company is authorized to increase the share capital 
by issuance of a maximum number of 164 444 fully paid up registered shares with a nominal value of each CHF 22.50, representing 
a maximum nominal value of altogether CHF 3 699 990 intended for the exercise of restricted share units which have been or will be 
granted to the employees or members of the Board of Directors of the company according to the compensation plan approved by the 
Board of Directors.

2. Capital structure
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2.3 Changes in share capital in the past three years

Business year 2014/2015 None

Business year 2015/2016 Ordinary Capital Increase as of 1 December 2015

Business year 2016/2017 None

2.4/2.5 Shares and participation certificates/Profit-sharing certificates
The 3 318 027 registered shares referred to in section 2.1 on page 26 are fully paid up. Each share entitles the holder to receive divi-
dends. Voting rights are explained in section 6 on page 38. There are no preferential rights or similar entitlements.

As of 31 March 2017, there were no participation or profit-sharing certificates outstanding.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
The Company’s shares are freely transferable without any restrictions. A share register is maintained for the registered shareholders, 
which records the first and last names, address and nationality (registered office in the case of legal entities) of the shareholders and 
beneficiaries. Only those listed in the share register are recognized by the Company as shareholders or beneficiaries. 

Purchasers of registered shares or a rightful ownership to registered shares will, on request, be listed in the share register as share-
holders or beneficiaries with voting rights if they make an explicit declaration that they have acquired the shares or the usufruct to the 
shares in their own names and for their own account. If the purchaser is not prepared to make this declaration, the Board of Directors 
may refuse registration with voting rights. This restriction on registration also applies to shares which are subscribed or acquired by 
exercising a subscription, option or conversion right.

2.7 Convertible bonds and options
As of 31 March 2017, there were no convertible bonds or options of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG outstanding. 
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The Board of Directors determines the Company’s guiding principles and strategic direction. It is the Company’s ultimate governing 
body and is therefore responsible for overseeing Group Management. Since the last AGM there were no changes in the membership 
of the Board of Directors.

As of 31 March 2017, the members of the Board of Directors were independent with the exception of Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik and Vladislav 
Osipov. Iakov Tesis resigned as Director as of 21 March 2017.

The following list provides an overview of the members of the Board of Directors as of 31 March 2017.

3.1/3.2 Members of the Board of Directors/Other activities and interests 

Member since Elected until Committees

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman/CEO
1951, Russian citizen
Director of Energetic Source S.p.A. (a Renova Group subsidiary)
Trustee of the International Tax and Investment Center (ITIC)

2014 2017 A, C

Vladislav Osipov, Member
1971, Russian citizen
Managing Director of Centiveo AG
Representative of Lamesa Holding SA, Panama

2012 2017 B

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member
1963, German citizen
Director of ICN Immobilien Consult Nuremberg, responsible for real estate  
portfolios for the Schickedanz Group

2006 2017 A, B, C

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member
1965, Swiss citizen
Partner at Wenger & Vieli Law Firm
Director Alegra Capital AG, UCC Holding AG, Milestone Capital AG, 
and various mandates in Family Offices.

2014 2017 A, B

A = Member of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (NCC)
B = Member of the Audit Committee (AC)
C = Member of the Investment & Strategic Committee (IC)

3. Board of Directors
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None of the non-executive board directors was a member of management of the listed Company or a subsidiary in the last three re-
porting periods.

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik
Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik joined the Board of Directors in 2014 and is currently Chairman of the Board of Directors, member of the Nomina-
tion, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee, the Investment and Strategic Committee as well as the CEO of the Com-
pany. Dr. Bakaleynik has broad experience in leadership roles at a range of international companies. Since 2008 until recently, he has 
been advisor to the Chairman of the board of Renova Management AG, Victor Vekselberg. He was also Chairman of the supervisory 
board of Renova US Holdings Ltd., a subsidiary of the Renova Group, and currently serves as a Director of Energetic Source S.p.A. (a 
Renova Group subsidiary). He is also a member of the board of trustees of the International Tax and Investment Center (ITIC), served 
as a Director of Integra Group, a LSE listed company (2007 – 2014) and as Director of the NASDAQ listed CIFC Corp. (2014–2015). Dr. 
Iosif Bakaleynik holds an MBA from Harvard Business School and a Master's Degree as well as a doctorate in economics from the 
State University of Moscow.

Vladislav Osipov
Dipl. Ing. Vladislav Osipov joined the Board of Directors in 2012. He is the managing director of Centiveo AG, a family office manage-
ment company. Besides several management roles in Swiss companies (e.g. Coalco AG), his past work includes serving as the Sec-
retary to the CEO/Chairman of Renova Management AG, Zurich. Between 1994 and 2005 Mr. Osipov held various senior positions in 
Germany and Russia within the ABB Group.

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer
Dr. Markus Wesnitzer joined the Board of Directors in 2006. He was responsible for the real estate division of Schickedanz-Holding in 
Fürth, Germany since 1996. In 2000 he joined the Management Board of ICN Immobilien Consult Nuremberg and has been in charge 
of acquisitions and asset and property management. ICN manages a real estate portfolio for the Schickedanz Group family with the 
emphasis on office space and commercial premises in major German cities.

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher
Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher joined the Board of Directors in 2014. He works as an attorney at Wenger & Vieli. He is a member of the Board of 
a number of listed and unlisted companies. Dr. Zürcher is a certified notary of the canton of Zug and a registered representative at SIX 
Swiss Exchange. Wolfgang Zürcher holds a doctorate in law from the University of Zurich and a Master of Laws (LL.M.) from University 
College London.

With the exception of Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, none of the Directors holds executive office within the Züblin Group or has a significant 
business relationship with it. For further information see note 21 “Related parties”, page 114, in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements of the Züblin Group.
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3.3 Ordinance against excessive pay in listed companies (VegüV)
Under the Company’s articles of association (Art. 21), the members of the Board of Directors may not hold more than 15 other director-
ships, of which no more than 5 may be in listed companies.

3.4 Elections and terms of office
3.4.1 Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors are elected individually for a term of office of one year, with the Chairman of the Board being 
elected at the same time. As a rule the members of the Board of Directors step down when they reach the age of 70. The Board of 
Directors of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is currently made up of three non-executive directors. There are currently no interlocking 
memberships on other boards of directors.

3.4.2 Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (NCC) 
The members of the NCC are elected individually for a term of office of one year.

3.5 Internal organizational structure
3.5.1 Allocation of responsibilities within the Board of Directors
The roles of Vice-President and Delegate of the Board of Directors do not exist. A division of responsibilities within the Board of Direc-
tors is not envisaged.

3.5.2 Membership of the Board committees, their responsibilities and powers
The task of the committees is to prepare the groundwork for decisions by the full Board. Decisions are taken by majority vote.

Audit Committee (AC)
The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr. Markus Wesnitzer. The other members are Vladislav Osipov and Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher. The 
Audit Committee supervises Group Management with regard to implementation of corporate strategy, compliance with statutory and 
other regulations, internal regulations and directives, and risk management. It also supervises the auditors, and reviews the results of 
the annual audit as well as the accounting principles and financial control mechanisms.

Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (NCC)
The Chairman of the Nomination and Compensation Committee is Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher. The other members are Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik 
and Dr. Markus Wesnitzer. The Nomination and Compensation Committee lays down the principles for the compensation of the Board 
of Directors and Group Management including defining the individual targets for Group Management which form the basis for the op-
erating performance bonus. It is also responsible for the appointment and dismissal of the members of Group Management and Board 
members of subsidiary companies.

Investment and Strategy Committee (IC)
Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik is Chairman of the Investment and Strategy Committee, Dr. Markus Wesnitzer acts as member. The Committee 
monitors compliance with the processes for purchases and sales of properties and ensures the strategic investment guidelines are 
implemented.

Page
30

 Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance

Compensation Report
Financial Report Group



3.5.3 Work methods of the Board of Directors and its committees
The Board of Directors convenes as often as business requires. In financial year 2016/2017, the Board of Directors met six times. On 
average, the meetings last five hours. The Board of Directors is quorate when a majority of its members are present. Decisions are 
taken by majority vote. In the event of a tied vote, the Chairman has the casting vote. Extraordinary meetings of the Board of Directors 
or conference calls are convened and decisions taken by circular resolution if required. Minutes are taken of Board meetings and con-
ference calls; decisions taken by circular resolution are recorded in the minutes of the following meeting. Group Management usually 
participates in the meetings of the Board of Directors.

Meetings of the Audit Committee take place primarily in preparation for the annual and semi-annual reports or if particular transactions 
so require. In financial year 2016/2017, the Audit Committee met three times.

Meetings of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee are held primarily with regard to setting the com-
pensation for the Board of Directors and Group Management. The Nomination and Compensation Committee met twice in financial 
year 2016/2017.

3.6 Definition of areas of responsibility 
The organization of the Board of Directors and Group Management is governed by the organizational rules and regulations approved 
by the Board of Directors in July 2015 and is reproduced in summary form below.

The non-transferable duties of the Board of Directors are listed in detail in the articles of association under article 16 (available on the 
Company’s website www.zueblin.ch or directly from the Company). In its role as the Company’s ultimate governing body, the Board of 
Directors is responsible for:

– maintaining overall oversight of the Company and laying down its organizational structure
– structuring accounting, financial planning and financial control
– appointing and dismissing members of the Company’s management and persons empowered to represent the Company and stipu-

lating their signature powers
– supervising and overseeing the activities of Group Management, appointing and dismissing members of Group Management includ-

ing with regard to their compliance with the law, articles of association, regulations and directives
– preparation of the annual report and the Annual General Meeting and subsequent implementation of its resolutions.

The processes applying to the purchase of real estate are dealt with separately. The Board of Directors has drawn up guidelines for 
these purchases, which govern investment targets, performance and quality specifications. The Board of Directors takes all decisions 
on the purchase and sale of real estate on the basis of proposals from Group Management. The approval of the Board of Directors is 
always required in cases when an acquisition is connected with a capital increase or the issuance of a bond.

All other duties, in particular the management of the ongoing operating business, are the responsibility of Group Management. Group 
Management submits a budget with a three-year business plan (including a budget for property renovations) to the Board of Directors 
every year and is responsible for implementing it once it has been agreed. Regulations governing approval limits also stipulate which 
financial decisions can be taken by Group Management and which have to be submitted to the Board of Directors.
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3.7 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis Group Management
Group Management submits regular structured reports to the Board of Directors. The flow of information between the Board of  Diretors 
and Group Management is also assured by virtue of the fact that Group Management usually attends the meetings of the Board of 
Directors.

The following are available to the Board of Directors as information and control instruments:
– Group consolidation including comparison with previous year and budget as well as an analysis of any deviations (quarterly manage-

ment information system)
–  Reports on investment activities
–  Reports on financing activities including cash management
–  Detailed reports from Group Management on business performance by country, in particular the asset management activities –  

Risk management system (quarterly risk sensitivity analysis broken down into property market and financing risks. For further infor-
mation on risk management, please refer to the consolidated financial statements, pages 81-85).

–  ICS – Internal control system (risk-optimized processes and controls)

Due to its size the Company does not have an internal audit function. If any reviews or investigations are required Züblin therefore com-
missions third parties or external auditors to perform these. However, no such instances occurred during the reporting year.
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4.1/4.2 Members of Group Management/Other activities and interests

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman/CEO
(1951) MBA, Russian national, born in Tomsk (Russia) and resident in Hünenberg/See. Chairman of the Board and CEO of the Züblin 
Group since October 2014.

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik is a highly experienced manager with many years of strategic and operating management experience at a range 
of international companies. Since 2008 until recently, he has been adviser to the chairman of the board of Renova Management AG, 
Victor Vekselberg. He was also chairman of the supervisory board of Renova US Holdings Ltd., a subsidiary of the Renova Group, and 
currently serves as a Director of Energetic Source S.p.A. (a Renova Group subsidiary). He is also a member of the board of trustees of 
the International Tax and Investment Center (ITIC). He also served as a Director of Integra Group, a LSE listed company (2007 – 2014) 
and as Director of the NASDAQ listed CIFC Corp. (2014 – 2015). Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik holds an MBA from Harvard Business School and 
a master's degree as well as a doctorate in economics from the State University of Moscow. Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik does not exercise 
any significant functions in addition to his activities for the Züblin Group.

Roland Friederich, CFO (as of 1 December 2016)
(1972) German Citizen, resident in Berlin. Roland Friederich studied Finance & Economy at Fachhochschule Nürtingen/German as 
well as at University of California, Berkeley/USA. He joined Arthur Andersen as auditor in Berlin in 2000; later he joined Ernst & Young 
in Berlin as Manager, heading audit teams for several real estate companies. 2008 Roland Friederich joined Züblin’s German subsidi-
ary ZIAG Immobilien AG in Düsseldorf as Head of Finance & Controlling. As of 2014 he took over additional responsibilities for Züblin’s 
reporting on group level. As of 1 December 2016 Roland Friederich was appointed CFO of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG in Zürich. 
Mr. Friederich does not exercise any significant functions in addition to his activities for the Züblin Group.

Thomas Wapp, CFO/COO (until 30 November 2016)

4.3 Other functions & positions
Under the Company’s articles of association (Art. 21), the members of the Group Management may not hold more than 15 other 
directorships, of which no more than 5 may be in listed companies.

4.4 Management contracts
There are no management contracts with companies outside the Group.

All disclosures concerning compensation, shareholdings and loans are set out in the compensation report including the notes (Pages 
39–48).

4. Group Management

5. Compensation, shareholdings 
and loans
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6.1 Voting rights and representation restrictions
The registered shares of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG are unitary shares, giving all shareholders the same participation rights. Every 
share whose holder or beneficiary is listed in the share register as a shareholder with voting rights has one vote. There are no restric-
tions on voting rights.

Shareholders in Swiss stock companies enjoy a range of participation and protective rights. The protective rights include, among other 
things, the right to information and the right of inspection (Art. 696, 697 Swiss Code of Obligations/CO), the right to initiate a special 
audit (Art. 697a CO), the right to convene a General Meeting (Art. 699/III CO), the right to put items on the agenda of the General Meet-
ing (Art. 699/III CO), the right to challenge resolutions made by the General Meeting (Art. 706 CO) and the right to sue for damages 
(Art. 752 ff. CO). Participation rights primarily include the right to attend the Annual General Meeting, freedom to express an opinion, 
and the right to vote (Art. 694 CO). The articles of the Swiss Code of Obligations can be found at www.admin.ch, while the articles of 
association of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG are available at www.zueblin.ch.

A shareholder may only be represented at the AGM by their legal representative, by another person participating in the AGM who is 
registered in the share register with voting rights, or by an independent proxy voter. The Company has mechanisms in place to allow 
shareholders to issue authorities and instructions to the independent proxy voter electronically. 

6.2 Statutory quorums
There are no statutory quorums that go beyond the statutory provisions on the passing of resolutions (Art. 703 and 704 CO).

6.3 Convocation of the Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is held within six months of the end of the financial year. The Annual General Meeting is convened, the 
agenda drawn up and the resolutions passed in accordance with statutory regulations.

6.4 Inclusion of items on the agenda
Shareholders who individually or jointly represent at least 0.25 percent of the share capital at the time of the request may request in writ-
ing, citing the motion for discussion, that certain issues be included on the agenda of the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders who 
individually or jointly hold shares with a nominal value of at least CHF 1 000 000 at the time of the request also have a right to request 
that items be included on the agenda. The request for inclusion of items on the agenda and the proposed motions must be submitted 
to the Board of Directors no later than 45 days before an Annual General Meeting.

6.5 Registration in the share register
The invitation to the Annual General Meeting will be sent to shareholders at least 20 days in advance. The cut-off date for registration in 
the share register with regard to taking part in the Annual General Meeting will be notified to shareholders in the invitation to the Annual 
General Meeting.

The cut-off date for the 28th Annual General Meeting, to be held on 20 June 2017, is 13 June 2017.

6. Shareholders’ participation rights
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7.1 Duty to make an offer
Under Art. 135 para. 1 of the Federal Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities and Derivatives Trading 
(FinfraG), anyone whose direct or indirect shareholdings exceed 33 1/3% of the voting rights is required to make a public tender offer 
for the Company. The Company’s articles of association contain neither an “opting-out” nor an “opting-up” clause. Under Art. 132 of 
FinfraG, if a public takeover offer has been made, the Board of Directors is required to provide shareholders with the information re-
quired to assess the offer. Moreover, the Board of Directors may not carry out any transactions that would have a significant impact on 
the assets or liabilities of the Company during this period. This restriction does not apply to resolutions of the Annual General Meeting. 
The provisions of FinfraG can be viewed at www.admin.ch.

7.2 Change of control clauses
No member of the Board of Directors or Group Management has a change of control clause in their contracts.

Auditors
8.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor
8.1.1 Date of assumption of the existing mandate
Ernst & Young AG, Zurich, has audited the Züblin Group and Züblin Immobilien Holding AG since 1998.

8.1.2 Date on which the lead auditor responsible for the existing auditing mandate took up office
Christian Krämer has been the lead auditor since the financial year 2014/2015. The auditors are appointed by the Annual General Meet-
ing for a period of one year.

8.2 Audit fees
The fees paid to Ernst & Young AG (EY) in financial year 2016/2017 were CHF 211'389.

8.3 Additional fees
In financial year 2016/2017 Ernst & Young AG provided no additional services.

7. Changes of control and defence 
measures

8. Auditors and independent real 
estate appraisers
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8.4 Informational instruments pertaining to the external audit
The Board of Directors performs its monitoring and control function with respect to the external auditors through the Audit Committee, 
which meets at least twice a year.

The Audit Committee maintains direct contact with the auditors and exchanges information with them on all matters within the ambit of 
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring the performance of the external auditors and reviews their 
independence on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Audit Committee monitors whether, and how, Group Management implements 
measures that have been adopted on the basis of findings by the external auditors. The Audit Committee can also task the statutory 
auditors with additional audit duties, particularly with regard to specified key risks.

The external auditors notify the Audit Committee of their findings with regard to the annual reports in the form of a management pres-
entation and a respective report. The audit results are examined and discussed in detail with the external auditors. These results form 
the basis for improvements to internal procedures and auditing processes.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board of Directors on the discussions that the Committee has held with the external auditors and 
informs it of the most important findings and action taken.

During financial year 2016/2017, representatives of the external auditors participated in the Audit Committee meeting at its invitation. 
This meeting was held together with Group Management. There were no indications that the independence of the external auditors is 
in any way compromised.

Based on a proposal by the external auditors, the level of the audit fee for financial year 2016/2017 was reviewed by the Audit Commit-
tee and a proposal submitted to the full Board of Directors that it be accepted.

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee last carried out a review of the selection of the external auditors in financial year 
2004/2005. At the time three globally operating audit companies were asked to submit a tender. In addition to the usual assessment 
criteria such as the level and price of the services, a local presence on the part of the audit company and experience in the sector were 
crucial factors in the re-selection of Ernst & Young.

Independent real estate appraisers
The open market value of each property in the Züblin portfolio is calculated by external, independent specialists on 30 September 
(semi-annual report) and 31 March (annual report). This procedure complies with the regulations laid down in IAS 40 (Investment Prop-
erty) and IFRS 13, which are applied by the Züblin Group. In October 2014 the Board of Directors appointed JLL as new appraisers for 
the entire portfolio. JLL valued all of the properties as at 31 March 2016 and the results of these valuations were used in the financial 
statements. JLL uses the discounted cash flow method for its property valuations. In this method the current market value of each 
property is determined by calculating or estimating its future revenues and expenses and discounting these over the forecast horizon. 
In financial year 2016/2017 the fees for the real estate appraisers amounted to CHF 72'680. In addtion to the valuation services JLL 
received fees of CHF 42'659 related to broker services and other advisory services.
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Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is committed to ensuring that its shareholders and the capital markets receive open, up-to-date and 
transparent information. The main vehicles for disseminating information are the annual and semi-annual reports, the corporate website 
www.zueblin.ch, press releases, the results presentation for the media and analysts and the Annual General Meeting. The main dates 
for the release of this information are printed on the first page of this annual report. As a listed company, Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 
is required under the Listing Rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange (www.six-exchange-regulation.com) to disclose information that may 
affect its share price.

For Investor Relations queries, please contact:

Roland Friederich, CFO
Phone +41 44 206 29 39
roland.friederich@zueblin.ch

None

9. Information policy

10.  Significant changes since the 
balance sheet date
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The Compensation Report has been drawn up on the basis of articles 14 to 16 of the Ordinance against excessive pay in listed com-
panies (Verordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften [VegüV]). It replaces the disclosures 
pursuant to Art. 663bbis of the Swiss Code of Obligations previously provided in the parent company financial statements of Züblin 
 Immobilien Holding AG. 

in CHF Basic 
compensation

Subsidiaries1 Total

Financial year 2016/2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 3 100 000 0 100 000

Vladislav Osipov, Member 3 70 000 0 70 000

Iakov Tesis, Member until 21 March 2017 70 000 0 70 000

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 3 70 000 13 545 83 545

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 70 000 0 70 000

Total Board of Directors 380 000 13 545 393 545

Financial year 2015/2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 2 3 100 000 16 397 116 397

Urs Ledermann, Member until 30 June 2015 17 500 0 17 500

Vladislav Osipov, Member 3 70 000 13 117 83 117

Iakov Tesis, Member 70 000 10 931 80 931

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 3 70 000 13 421 83 421

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 70 000 0 70 000

Total Board of Directors 397 500 53 866 451 366

1  Board compensation at the subsidiary level.
2  This member of the Board of Directors was also a member of the Board of Directors of Officiis Properties, Paris (former Züblin Immobilière France SA).
3  This member of the Board of Directors is also a member of the Board of Directors of ZIAG Immobilien AG, Dusseldorf.

Compensation

Compensation of the Board of Directors

Compensation Report Page
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in CHF Basic 
compensation

Bonus 
in cash

Employers contri-
butions 1

Total

Financial year 2016/2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 625 000 312 500 130 958 1 068 458

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO until 31 March 2017 360 000 0 68 846 428 846

Roland Friederich, CFO since 1 December 2016 73 333 36 667 14 300 124 300

Total Group Management 1 058 333 349 167 214 104 1 621 604

Financial year 2015/2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 625 000 150 000 139 162 914 162

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO 360 000 50 000 58 586 468 586

Pierre Essig, CEO France until 3 June 2015 45 095 0 7 328 52 423

Total Group Management 1 030 095 200 000 205 076 1 435 171

1  thereof contribution to pension schemes (AHV, pension fund) CHF 199'483 (prior year: CHF 187'002)

The Expenses of CHF 17'752 for social security contributions are not reported for the individual board members, as these contribtions 
do not give rise to additional pension entitlements. No non-executive member of the Board of Directors is a member of the Company’s 
pension fund. 

All members of the Board of Directors and Group Management receive lump-sum expenses at the level permitted by the tax authorities. 
Expenses incurred in connection with board meetings are also reimbursed.

The Company has no outstanding loans to current or former members of the board or management.

All expenses are recognized on the basis of the accrual principle and reconcile with the information in both the parent company and 
consolidated financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.

Compensation of management

Additional information on the 
Compensation Report
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To the General Meeting of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Zurich

Zurich, 17. Mai 2017

Report of the statutory auditor on the renumeration report
We have audited the renumeration report of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG (pages 39 to 40) for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

Board of Directors' responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with 
Swiss law and the Ordinance. The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual 
remuneration packages.

Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing 
Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the remuneration report with regard to 
compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the audi-
tor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration report, whether due to fraud or 
error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as 
assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended 31 March 2017 of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG complies with Swiss law and 
articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. 

Ernst & Young Ltd

Christian Krämer  Daniel Lanfranconi
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)

Report of the statutory auditors 
Audit of the compensation report
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Introduction
In the year under review the compensation model for the Board of Directors and Group Management remained unchanged. 

Compensation principles
The principles of the compensation system for the Board of Directors and management of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG are set out in 
the articles of association and contain the following features (see article 20ff. of the articles of association): 

– The compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and management is determined by the Board of Directors on the basis 
of a proposal from the Compensation Committee.

– The compensation policy is intended to ensure the independence of the Board of Directors in exercising its control function and 
is based largely on fixed cash remuneration and a variable share based compensation component which is awarded in restricted 
shares.

– For management the compensation policy is intended to ensure that talented managers can be recruited, retained and motivated. 
Members of management receive fixed cash renumeration, a share based compensation component which is awarded in restricted 
shares and a variable performance-related compensation which may be awarded  in cash and/or in shares.

– The AGM will have to approve on a prospective basis on a binding resolution on the maximum compensation ceiling for the Board of 
Directors (for the period until the next AGM) and for the Group Management (for the next financial year).

– The articles of association also stipulate a maximum supplementary amount of compensation for members of management who 
are appointed after the AGM has voted on compensation, and contain details on the procedure to be followed in the event that the 
compensation proposals are rejected by the AGM.

Information on the Compensation 
Report
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Nomination and Compensation Committee
In accordance with article 18 of the articles of association, the Nomination and Compensation Committee or NCC is comprised of at 
least two members of the Board of Directors. They are elected annually by the AGM for a period of one year until the next AGM. The 
NCC assists the Board of Directors in setting the compensation policy. The NCC also makes recommendations on compensation levels 
to the Board of Directors, the CEO and the other members of Group Management and draws up corresponding proposals for the AGM. 
In financial year 2016/2017 the members of the committee took part in all its meetings. CEO and CFO took part in the  
meetings in an advisory capacity. They left the meeting when their own compensation was being discussed. The chairman of the com-
mittee reports to the Board of Directors on the committee‘s deliberations after each of its meetings. The minutes of the committee’s 
meetings are available to all members of the Board of Directors. 

See page 28 to 29 of the Corporate Governance Report for details of the members of the Nomination & Compensation Committee and 
the committee’s other responsibilities. 

Procedures for setting compensation
The make-up and level of Board of Directors and Group Management compensation is reviewed periodically and is based on the 
sectoral and labour market environment in which Züblin Immobilien competes for and hires talent. The comparator group contains 
companies of a similar size in terms of market capitalization, revenues, staff numbers and geographical scope which are active in similar 
market segments and are headquartered in Switzerland. 

Moreover, the Company‘s financial performance and the extent to which individual job requirements and performance targets have 
been met are also considered in the Compensation Committee‘s decision on the compensation levels of the CEO and the other mem-
bers of Group management. 

Setting of compensation
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Compensation of the Board of Directors

The compensation of members of the Board of Directors is made up of the following components, with the fixed cash component the 
main element:

Instrument Objective Influences Performance targets Amount

Base Salary Salary payment Compensation for 
board membership

Position, standard 
market remuneration

– Chairman CHF 70 000 
Member   CHF 49 000

Shares 
(Restricted Share 
Units, RSUs)

RSUs with vesting 
period of up to 3 years 
and sequential allot-
ment of shares plus 
leverage factor

Long-term share-based 
compensation aligned 
with shareholder inter-
est

Share price perfor-
mance relative to peer 
group over a multi-year 
period

Increase in share price, 
outperformance of peer 
group

max. 75% of base salary  

Base salary
Each member of the Board of Directors receives a base salary for their term of office. It is set in advance and is the same for all mem-
bers of the Board of Directors apart from the Chairman. Membership of board committees is not remunerated separately. The annual 
fixed remuneration is paid in cash on quartely basis. If a member leaves the Board of Directors during their term of office the fixed 
remuneration is paid pro rata up to the end of the month in which they leave the board. The remuneration determined in the above 
manner is paid out quarterly after the approval of the overall amount by the AGM. The annual fixed remuneration of the Chairman and 
the members of the Board is irrespective of the number of board meetings. In addition members of the Board of Directors receive 
lump-sum expenses permitted by the tax authorities in the amount of CHF 5'000 and reimbursement of their expenses incurred in con-
nection with board meetings. No attendance fees are paid to the Board of Directors of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG. No non-executive 
member of the Board of Directors is covered by an occupational pension scheme.

The work of board members on the boards of the subsidiaries is paid in cash as fixed remuneration. This takes the form either of a fixed 
annual amount or an attendance fee depending on the company.

Shares (Restricted Share Units, RSUs)
In accordance with the articles of association members of the Board of Directors receive part of their compensation in the form of vari-
able, share-based compensation. This has been set by the NCC and shall not exceed 43% of the base salary for 2016/2017. The board 
members would be allocated the number of RSUs corresponding to this nominal amount in CHF. The RSUs price used for the alloca-
tion will be the closing price of Züblin shares on the final trading day of the previous financial year. The RSUs are allocated sequentially 
after the expiry of a vesting period of up to three years. Participants are granted one third of the RSUs in shares (with 1 RSU = 1 share) 
at the end of each year. 

Compensation structure
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There will be an additional assessment at the transfer date of the shares of the relative share price performance of Züblin Immobilien 
Holding AG compared with a peer group of direct competitors. If Züblin’s proportionate share price performance has outperformed the 
comparator group by more than a defined amount over the previous year, the allocation of shares will be increased. If a board member 
leaves the board, the Board of Directors will decide on their entitlement to any remaining vested RSUs.

During a transition period until full payment of the RSUs any disadvantages to the exisiting remuneration system are settled in cash.

Compensation in the year under review
The compensation of the members of the Board of Directors for the year under review is set out in the Compensation Report (page 38). 

Compensation of Group Management

Compensation model
The compensation of the members of Group Management comprises the following components:

Instrument Objective Influence Performance targets Target (in % of the 
annual base salary)

Annual base salary Monthly salary payment Acquisition and reten-
tion of staff

Position, standard 
market remuneration, 
individual qualifications 
and competence

Fulfilment of functions 100%

Short-term vari-
able compensation 
(bonus)

Performance bonus in 
cash and shares

Performance-related 
pay (short-term)

Achievement of perfor-
mance targets over a 
1-year period

Return on Equity max. 25%

Individual targets max. 25%

Shares Shares with three-year 
vesting period

Long-term share-based 
compensation aligned 
with shareholder 
interest

Share price perfor-
mance over a multi-
year period

Increase in the share 
price

max. 25%

Pensions, 
other benefits

Pensions and 
insurance, other 
benefits

Coverage against risks, 
acquisition and reten-
tion of staff

Standard market price, 
standard market prac-
tise and position

– –
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Annual base salary
The members of Group Management receive fixed annual remuneration in cash which is determined by the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee for the financial year (1 April-31 March of the following year) and approved by the AGM. This fixed remuneration is determined in-
dividually, taking account of the criteria set out above and the function and responsibilities of the individual member of Group Management. 

Short-term variable compensation (bonus)
For members of Group Management the short-term variable compensation component consists of two elements, the operating per-
formance bonus and the return on equity bonus, and may not exceed 50% of the annual base salary. 

The operating performance bonus may amount to a maximum of 25% of annual base salary and depends on the individual perfor-
mance achieved by the management member. Individual performance is evaluated by means of the annual “management by objec-
tives” process (MbO). Individual targets are set and approved by the Board of Directors at the beginning of the year and at the end of 
the year these are then compared with the actual performance. The operating performance bonus is then calculated on the basis of 
the achievement level of the targets, taking account of the weighting of the components.

The operating performance bonus is not paid if the Company records an overall net loss.

The return on equity bonus (or RoE bonus) can amount to a maximum of 25% of annual base salary and depends on the net result 
for the financial year. It is based on the Group’s return on equity including changes in the market value of properties and profits and 
losses on sales of investment properties.

The Board of Directors defines a performance matrix with an upper and lower RoE performance threshold. The lower threshold cor-
responds to the budgeted RoE for the financial year. If the lower RoE performance threshold is not met, the RoE bonus is reduced to 
zero. For results above the lower RoE threshold, a growing proportion of the RoE bonus is paid as the Company‘s earnings increase. If 
the upper RoE performance threshold is met or exceeded, the RoE bonus reaches its maximum of 25% of the annual base salary. The 
performance matrix is reviewed and adjusted by the Board of Directors periodically. 

The total short-term variable compensation component is defined as a nominal amount in Swiss Francs. Three quarters will be paid 
out in cash and one quarter in shares of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, with the price of the shares at allocation equal to the closing 
price on the last trading day of the previous financial year. 
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Shares
Members of Group Management may receive a share-based compensation component. The purpose of the share-based compensa-
tion is to align the interests of Group Management with the interests of shareholders. As with the share-based compensation of board 
members, this component may – subject to approval of the NCC – amount to max. 25% of the annual base salary of the member of 
Group Management. The Group Management member would then be allocated the number of shares corresponding to this nominal 
amount in Swiss Francs. The price of the shares applying at allocation is the closing price on the last trading day of the previous financial 
year. Members of Group Management acquire ownership of the relevant number of shares at the end of three years. If a member of 
the Group Management leaves or joins the Company the potential entitlement will be determined by the NCC. The maximal potential 
entitlement will be calculated pro rata to the end of the month in which the member leaves or joins the Company.

Pensions and other benefits
The other main benefits received by management employees are pension plans and insurance policies which provide an appropriate 
pension contribution and appropriate coverage against the risks of death or disability. For members of Group Management with a 
Swiss employment contracts the plan benefits exceed those provided by the Swiss Federal Law on Old-Age, Survivors’ and Disability 
Pension Plans (BVG) and are in line with standard market practice.

Members of Group Management do not receive any special additional benefits. They are entitled to a lump-sum amount for business 
expenses in accordance with the expenses regulations approved by the relevant cantonal tax authorities. 

Notice periods and severance payments for Group Management
The employment contracts of the members of Group Management include the following periods of notice and severance payments: 

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik (CEO): The notice period is six months. The employment contract does not provide for any severance payment.

Roland Friederich (CFO): The notice period is six months. The employment contract does not provide for any severance payment.

Compensation in the reporting year
The compensation of the members of Group Management for the reporting year is set out in the Compensation Report (page 38). 
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The Ordinance against excessive pay in listed companies (VegüV) entered into force on 1 January 2014. The Company’s compensation 
mechanism and approval mechanism have both been amended accordingly and are governed by the articles of association of Züblin 
Immobilien Holding AG.

The Board of Directors submits a proposal to the AGM annually for the approval of a maximum prospective compensation ceiling. 
This ceiling applies until the next AGM for the Board of Directors, and in the case of management for the coming financial year. If the 
proposed ceiling is not approved by the AGM, the Board of Directors may submit new proposals for approval of the ceiling to the same 
AGM or convene a new General Meeting. The Board of Directors will submit the following compensation-specific proposals to the 2017 
AGM:

Consultative vote on the Compensation Report
The Board of Directors has decided to submit the 2016/2017 Compensation Report (pages 38 to 48) to the 2017 AGM for approval in 
a consultative vote. For further details please see the invitation to the AGM of 21 June 2017.

Approval of the compensation ceiling for the Board of Directors until the 2017 AGM
In accordance with the articles of association, the Board of Directors will submit a proposal to the 2017 AGM for approval of a maximum 
compensation ceiling for the Board of Directors for the coming term of office from the 2017 AGM to the next AGM in 2018.

The Board of Directors proposes to the AGM to approve a maximum ceiling of CHF 550'000 for the compensation of the Board of 
Directors in the next term of office. The ceiling consists of the sum of the base salary of the four board members proposed for election, 
the remuneration for subsidiaries plus the share-based compensation components.

Approval of the compensation ceiling for Group Management for the financial year 2018/2019
In accordance with the articles of association, the Board of Directors will submit a proposal to the 2017 AGM for approval of a maximum 
compensation ceiling for Group Management for the financial year 2018/2019 (1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019).

The maximum ceiling for compensation is the sum of the individual maximum compensation amounts for the financial year stipulated 
in the employment contracts of the members of Group Management and amounts to CHF 1'800'000.

The effective compensation for 2018/2019 will be determined on the basis of the employment contracts and the financial results 
achieved in the financial year 2017/2018. It will be set out in detail in the 2018/2019 Compensation Report, on which the 2019 AGM will 
be able to express its views by means of a consultative vote.

Proposals for the 2017 AGM
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Roland Friederich, CFO

CFO Letter

Züblin completed the financial year 2016/17 with a profit of CHF 29.9 million. After reporting a profit in September 2016 for the 
first time since March 2012, the Group significantly increased its profits in the second half year of financial year 2016/17. Earn-
ings from continuing operations rose by CHF 1.0 million to CHF 2.1 million, mainly driven by improved operating performance 
and cost reductions resulting from the restructuring measures initiated in 2014. Due to the decision to sell the German portfolio 
this business segment is now reported as discontinued operation. There was a profit of CHF 27.8 million from discontinued op-
erations in 2016/17 compared to a loss of CHF 20.1 million from discontinued operations in Germany and France in the previous 
year. The performance of continuing operations was as follows: Rental income of CHF 8.0 million, up 1.4% on the prior year. Net 
operating income of CHF 7.6 million, up 1.2%. Financing expenses down significantly by CHF 6.4 million compared with the pri-
or year. Market value of investment properties CHF 198.5 million. Market value of property portfolio revalued upwards by CHF 
2.4 million. Vacancy rate improved from 12.4% to 10.6%. LTV (loan-to-value-ratio) fell from 55% to 54%. Positive earnings 
boosted NAV per share to CHF 36.82.
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Rental income increased by CHF 0.1 million compared with the previous year to CHF 8.0 million and reflects the successful letting 
activities in the continuing Swiss operations. 

Operating costs declined by CHF 0.8 million or 14% compared to the previous year. Property-related costs remained unchanged at 
CHF 0.5 million, while administrative expenses fell by 16%, mainly due to cost savings and the release of reserves. 

Overall, the market value of the Swiss portfolio was revalued upwards by CHF 2.4 million. The market value of the four properties in 
the Zurich region increased by CHF 4.8 million and the property in Bern was adjusted downwards by CHF 2.4 million. The revaluations 
resulted from the current positive market environment and the vacancy reductions achieved during the financial year.

The restructuring measures implemented in recent years led to a significant reduction in financial expenses. Interest expenses fell by 
CHF 6.4 million to CHF 2.4 million. The negative interest rate environment had an impact of CHF 0.6 million on net financial expense.

Züblin reported a tax expense of CHF 1.6 million. This expense mainly derived from changes in deferred tax liabilities on positive valu-
ation differences (CHF 1.2 million). 

Züblin expects to complete the sale of the German portfolio in the first half of financial year 2017/18 with an expected net cash inflow 
of around CHF 55 million. Upon completion of the transaction, Züblin will be well positioned for targeted growth initiatives to ensure 
the company continues to generate value going forward. In addition, the Board of Directors may consider proposing a dividend to the 
shareholders following the successful closing of the German portfolio transaction. 

The decision to sell the German properties to take advantage of the attractive market dynamics for office properties in Germany re-
sulted in the disclosure of the German market as discontinued operations. The profit on discontinued operations for the financial year 
2016/17 was CHF 27.8 million. This amount includes revaluation gains of CHF 24.0 million on the properties, of which CHF 13.2 million 
relates to the planned transaction. The transaction is expected to close within the next few months. At the time of closing, unrealized 
losses on currency and cash flow hedges currently recognized in reserves of discontinued operations will have to be recycled through 
profit and loss. This will have a negative impact of CHF 33.8 million on next year’s annual results, although it will not impact on NAV.
 
EBITDA excluding the result from the sale of investment properties amounted to CHF 3.4 million leading to an EBITDA margin of 42%. 
Overall, the Group returned to profitability and posted a net profit of CHF 29.9 million (CHF 9.02 per share), compared to a loss of CHF 
18.9 million (CHF –5.70 per share) in the prior year. 

Income statement  
Rental income

Operating costs

Valuation of investment properties

Financing costs

Income taxes

Result from discontinued operations

Earnings



Page
52

 Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report

Financial Report 
Group

The value of Züblin’s continuing portfolio was CHF 198.5 million at the end of March 2017, an increase of CHF 2.6 million from CHF 
195.9 million as of 31 March 2016. The portfolio value was increased by valuation adjustments totalling CHF 2.4 million and investments 
of CHF 0.2 million. Annual rental income rose from CHF 7.9 million to CHF 8.0 million  and the vacancy rate in the portfolio went down 
from 12.4% to 10.6%.

Assets and liabilities relating to the German portfolio are disclosed as assets associated with the disposal group (CHF 167.8 million) and 
liabilities associated with the disposal group (CHF 112.0 million) on the face of the balance sheet. A successful sale would lead to net 
proceeds of approximately CHF 55 million. 

The company currently has outstanding mortgages of CHF 108.2 million, which represents an LTV of 54.4% compared with 55.1% a 
year ago. The current mortgage expires in September 2017 and the status of the refinancing is currently well advanced. The refinancing 
is expected to be completed after the sale of the German portfolio.

As of 31 March 2017 the net asset value per share was CHF 36.82, compared with CHF 26.98 a year ago. The EPRA NAV was CHF 
45.39, up from CHF 37.93 at 31 March 2016. The equity ratio stood at 31.8%, a rise of 6.7 percentage points year-on-year. The EPRA 
equity ratio increased by 3.9 percentage points to 39.2%. 

Züblin expects to complete the sale of the German portfolio in the first half of financial year 2017/18 with an expected net cash inflow of 
around CHF 55 million. The Board of Directors may consider proposing a dividend to the shareholders following the successful closing 
of the German portfolio transaction. 

Balance sheet
Investment properties

Financing

Net asset value (NAV)

Outlook



Page
53

 Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report

Financial Report 
Group

Consolidated income statement and  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

in CHF thousand
Notes

1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Continuing operations

Rental income 1 8 030 7 920

Total operating income 8 030 7 920

Real estate expense 2 –312 –273

Maintenance and repairs –143 –162

Net operating income 7 575 7 485

Administrative expense 3 –4 191 –4 978

Result from the sale of investment properties 0 –27

Change in market value 8 2 369 5 652

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 5 753 8 132

Financial expense 4 –2 384 –8 778

Financial income 4 390 62

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 3 759 –584

Income taxes 5 –1 646 1 731

Earnings from continuing operations 2 113 1 147

Discontinued operations

Result from discontinued operations 6 27 813 –20 091

Earnings 29 926 –18 944

of which attributable to:

- Shareholders of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 29 926 –16 326

- Non-controlling interests 0 –2 618

Earnings per share 7 9.02 –5.70

Diluted earnings per share 7 9.02 –5.70

Earnings per share from continuing operations 7 0.64 0.40

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 7 0.64 0.40

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.

Consolidated
income statement
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in CHF thousand
Notes

1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Earnings 29 926 –18 944

Change in cash flow hedges 3 494 –3 980

Income taxes from change in cash flow hedges –527 1 079

Currency translation adjustments –499 66

Change in discontinued operations 0 15 116

Items subsequently reclassified to income statement 2 468 12 282

Change in net pension obligation 244 –182

Items subsequently not reclassified to income statement 244 –182

Other comprehensive income 2 712 12 099

Net comprehensive income 32 638 –6 844

of which attributable to:

- Shareholders of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 32 638 –4 226

- Non-controlling interests 0 –2 618

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.

Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income
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in CHF thousand Notes 31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

Non-current assets

Investment properties 8 198 480 195 860

Furnishing 9 50 4

Deferred tax assets 10 71 119

Total non-current assets 198 601 195 983

Current assets

Trade accounts receivable 11 39 61

Receivable from income taxes 1 390 58

Other current assets 14 919 14 597

Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 056 2 744

Total current assets 17 404 17 460

Assets directly associated with disposal group 167 750 142 852

Total assets 383 755 356 295

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.

Assets

Consolidated  
balance sheet



Page
56

 Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report

Financial Report 
Group

in CHF thousand Notes 31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

Equity

Share capital 13 74 656 74 656

Capital reserves 170 558 170 558

Retained earnings –87 179 –117 349

Reserve for cash flow hedges –2 055 –4 017

Reserve of discontinued operation –33 808 –34 315

Total equity 122 172 89 533

Liabilities

Non-current mortgages 18 0 108 156

Other non-current liabilities 19 338 562

Deferred tax liabilities 10 8 837 7 165

Derivative financial instruments 17 19 672 24 022

Total Non-current liabilities 28 847 139 905

Current mortgages 18 108 156 0

Derivative financial instruments 17 0 693

Income tax liabilities 0 2 796

Trade accounts payable 120 316

Other current liabilities 12 491 7 901

Total Current liabilities 120 767 11 706

Liabilities directly associated with disposal group 111 969 115 151

Total liabilities 261 583 266 762

Total equity and liabilities 383 755 356 295

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.

Equity and liabilities
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in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Cash flow from operating acitvities

Earnings from continuing operations 2 113 1 147

Earnings from discontinuing operations 27 815 6 536

Adjustments for:

- Result from the sale of investment properties 0 222

- Net financial expenses 4 839 11 911

- Change in market value of investment properties –26 323 –7 750

- Income taxes 3 527 –1 497

- Depreciation 50 31

- Other non cash flow-related effects 20 –29

Cash flow before change in net current assets 12 040 10 572

Change in net working capital –657 –2 139

Income taxes paid –4 748 –338

Income taxes received 128 2

Interest received 395 33

Net cash flow from operating activities 7 158 8 130

Cash flow from investing activities

Investments in investment properties –3 183 –2 722

Divestments of investment properties 0 7 096

Sale Shareholder Loan France 0 45 010

Investments in furnishing –82 –12

Net cash flow from investing activities –3 265 49 372

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.

Consolidated  
cash flow statement
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in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Cash flow from financing acitivities

Decrease of bond 0 –35 300

Change shareholder loan 0 –52 761

Increase of loan to shareholder 0 –13 000

Utilization bank overdraft 4 971 3 816

Decrease of mortgages –2 904 –13 305

Interest paid –7 501 –16 203

Net Proceeds Capital Increase 0 69 618

Sale of treasury shares 0 270

Net cash flow used in financing activities –5 434 –56 865

Currency translation adjustments for cash and cash equivalents –38 92

Change in cash and cash equivalents –1 579 729

Cash and cash equivalents as of the beginning of the period 3 516 2 787

 - thereof continuing operations 2 744 828

Cash and cash equivalents as of the end of the period 1 937 3 516

 - thereof continuing operations 1 056 2 744

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.
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in CHF thousand Share  
capital

Capital  
reserves

Retained  
earnings

Treasury 
 shares

Reserve for 
cash flow  

hedges

Currency  
translation  

adjustments 2

Reserves of 
discontinued 
operations 3

Equity of the 
shareholders of 

ZIHAG

Non-controlling 
interests

Total equity

Balance as of 31.3.2015 59 724 159 872 –142 868 –2 243 –6 581 –28 916 –15 116 23 872 2 618 26 490

Earnings –16 326 –16 326 –2 618 –18 944

Other comprehensive income –182 –2 901 66 15 116 12 099 0 12 099

Total comprehensive income 0 0 –16 508 0 –2 901 66 15 116 –4 227 –2 618 –6 845

Change in treasury shares –1 973 2 243 270 270

Offset of retained loss 1 –44 000 44 000 0 0

Recuction of share capital with simultanious capital 
increase

14 932 56 738 0 71 670 71 670

Transaction cost –2 052 0 –2 052 –2 052

Discontinued operations  3 5 465 28 850 –34 315 0 0

Balance as of 31.3.2016 74 656 170 558 –117 349 0 –4 017 0 –34 315 89 533 0 89 533

Earnings 29 926 29 926 29 926

Other comprehensive income 244 2 967 –499 2 712 2 712

Total comprehensive income 0 0 30 170 0 2 967 –499 0 32 638 0 32 638

Discontinued operations  3 –1 005 499 506 0 0

Balance as of 31.3.2017 74 656 170 558 –87 179 0 –2 055 0 –33 808 122 172 0 122 172

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.
1  Offset of loss carryforwards of CHF 60'000'000.00 in accordance with the AGM resolution of 30 June 2015 (thereof CHF 44'000'000.00 with capital reserves).
2  Since 31 March 2015 this relates to Germany only. Due to the decision to sell the German portfolio and therefore show Germany as a discontinued operations in the annual report, the currency translation adjustments are allocated to the reserves 

of discontinued operations. 
3  The reserves of the discontinued operations relate to reserves for currency differences as well as cash flow hedges, which were reclassified on the basis of sales. Upon successful completion of sale, this item is recycled to the income statement. 

In fiscal year 2015/2016 this reserve affected the business segment France, in the current fiscal year it relates to the business segment Germany.

Consolidated statement of changes  
in shareholder’s equity
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1.4.2016 - 31.3.2017

in CHF thousand Switzerland Germany Holding 1 Consolidation 2 Group  
incl.  

discontinued  
operations

Correction  
discontinued  

operations

Total

Rental income 8 030 10 899 0 18 929 –10 899 8 030

Intercompany 0 0 975 –975 0 0 0

Total operating income 8 030 10 899 975 –975 18 929 –10 899 8 030

Real estate expense –620 –922 0 580 –962 650 –312

Maintenance and repairs –143 –654 0 –797 654 –143

Net operating income 7 267 9 323 975 –395 17 170 –9 595 7 575

Administrative expense –218 –1 011 –4 366 395 –5 202 1 011 –4 191

Change in market value 2 369 23 954 0 26 323 –23 954 2 369

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 9 418 32 266 –3 391 0 38 291 –32 538 5 753

Net financial expenses –1 622 –2 845 –372 –4 839 2 845 –1 994

Earnings before taxes 7 796 29 421 –3 763 0 33 452 –29 693 3 759

Income taxes –1 587 –1 881 –59 –3 527 1 881 –1 646

Earnings 6 209 27 540 –3 822 0 29 925 –27 812 2 113

Non-cash effects in EBIT 2 369 23 559 –12 25 916 –23 559 2 357

1  The segment "Holding" is comprised of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Züblin Immobilien Management AG, Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA and Züblin Real Estate Holding NV.
2  Consolidation of Intercompany Management Fees and Property Management Fees in the income statement as well as intercompany loans and current accounts in the balance sheet.

Segment information  
Income statement
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1.4.2015 - 31.3.2016

in CHF thousand Switzerland Germany France Holding 1Consolidation 2 Group  
incl.  

discontinued  
operations

Correction  
discontinued  

operations

Total

Rental income 7 920 10 827 1 917 0 20 664 –12 744 7 920

Intercompany 0 0 0 932 –932 0 0 0

Total operating income 7 920 10 827 1 917 932 –932 20 664 –12 744 7 920

Real estate expense –552 –936 –2 114 0 550 –3 052 2 779 –273

Maintenance and repairs –162 –669 –200 0 –1 031 869 –162

Net operating income 7 206 9 222 –397 932 –382 16 581 –9 096 7 485

Administrative expense –703 –1 431 –3 116 –4 657 382 –9 525 4 547 –4 978

Result from the sale of investment properties –27 –195 0 0 –222 195 –27

Change in market value 5 652 2 098 –4 451 0 3 299 2 353 5 652

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 12 128 9 694 –7 964 –3 725 0 10 133 –2 001 8 132

Net financial expenses –1 006 –3 195 –18 663 –7 710 –30 574 21 858 –8 716

Earnings before taxes 11 122 6 499 –26 627 –11 435 0 –20 441 19 857 –584

Income taxes 1 689 –234 0 42 1 497 234 1 731

Earnings 12 811 6 265 –26 627 –11 393 0 –18 944 20 091 1 147

of which non-controlling interests 0 0 –2 618 0 –2 618 2 618 0

Non-cash effects in EBIT 5 652 2 038 –4 451 61 3 300 2 413 5 713

1  The segment "Holding" is comprised of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Züblin Immobilien Management AG, Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA and Züblin Real Estate Holding NV.
2  Consolidation of Intercompany Management Fees and Property Management Fees in the income statement as well as intercompany loans and current accounts in the balance sheet.
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Segment information  
Balance sheet

31.3.2017

in CHF thousand Switzerland Germany Holding 1 Consolidation 2 Group  
incl.  

discontinued  
operations

Correction  
discontinued  

operations

Total 

Investment properties 198 480 158 702 0 357 182 –158 702 198 480

Furnishing 0 101 50 151 –101 50

Other assets 13 921 8 969 53 755 –50 223 26 422 –8 947 17 475

Assets directly associated with disposal group 0 0 0 0 167 750 167 750

Total assets 212 401 167 772 53 805 –50 223 383 755 0 383 755

Mortgages 0 94 296 0 94 296 –94 296 0

Mortgages current 108 156 2 866 0 111 022 –2 866 108 156

Other liabilities 40 260 61 563 4 665 –50 223 56 265 –14 807 41 458

Liabilities directly associated with disposal group 0 0 0 0 111 969 111 969

Total liabilities 148 416 158 725 4 665 –50 223 261 583 0 261 583

1  The segment "Holding" is comprised of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Züblin Immobilien Management AG, Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA and Züblin Real Estate Holding NV.
2  Consolidation of Intercompany Management Fees and Property Management Fees in the income statement as well as intercompany loans and current accounts in the balance sheet.
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31.3.2016

in CHF thousand Switzerland Germany Holding 1 Consolidation 2 Group  
incl.  

discontinued  
operations

Correction  
discontinued  

operations

Total 

Investment properties 195 860 135 391 0 331 251 –135 391 195 860

Furnishing 0 117 4 121 –117 4

Other assets 10 213 7 344 53 345 –45 979 24 923 –7 344 17 579

Assets directly associated with disposal group 0 0 0 0 142 852 142 852

Total assets 206 073 142 852 53 349 –45 979 356 295 0 356 295

Mortgages 108 156 98 835 0 206 991 –98 835 108 156

Mortgages current 0 3 230 0 3 230 –3 230 0

Other liabilities 42 100 58 198 2 222 –45 979 56 541 –13 086 43 455

Liabilities directly associated with disposal group 0 0 0 0 115 151 115 151

Total liabilities 150 256 160 263 2 222 –45 979 266 762 0 266 762

1  The segment "Holding" is comprised of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Züblin Immobilien Management AG, Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA and Züblin Real Estate Holding NV.
2  Consolidation of Intercompany Management Fees and Property Management Fees in the income statement as well as intercompany loans and current accounts in the balance sheet.
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per country and investment category 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

in CHF thousand Switzerland 
continuing  
operations

Germany 
discontinued  

operations

Total Switzerland 
continuing  
operations

Germany 
discontinued  

operations

Total

Annual rental income

Office 8 117 10 340 18 457 7 934 10 844 18 778

Retail 0 320 320 0 302 302

Total annual rental income 8 117 10 660 18 777 7 934 11 146 19 080

Investment properties

Office 198 480 156 303 354 783 195 860 132 680 328 540

Retail 2 399 2 399 0 2 711 2 711

Total investment properties 198 480 158 702 357 182 195 860 135 391 331 251

Usable area in m2

Office 28 095 84 551 112 646 28 131 84 551 112 682

Retail 0 2 563 2 563 0 2 563 2 563

Total usable area in m2 28 095 87 114 115 209 28 131 87 114 115 245

Vacancy in m2

Office 4 943 10 094 15 037 5 283 6 582 11 865

Retail 0 487 487 0 504 504

Total vacancy in m2 4 943 10 581 15 524 5 283 7 086 12 369

The investment properties are, based on the main use, fully allocated to the corresponding investment category and can be compared with pages 13 to 20.
See definition of terms on pages 147 to 149.

Segment information 
Property key figures
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31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Switzerland 
continuing  
operation

Germany 
discontinued 

operations

Total Switzerland 
continuing  
operation

Germany 
discontinued 

operations

Total

unlimited 4% 1% 2% 3% 1% 2%

1 to 12 months 4% 13% 9% 3% 24% 15%

1 to 2 years 8% 30% 21% 7% 32% 22%

2 to 3 years 8% 18% 14% 8% 15% 12%

3 to 4 years 8% 15% 12% 6% 9% 8%

4 to 5 years 23% 10% 16% 25% 10% 17%

5 to 6 years 2% 2% 2% 5% 4% 4%

6 to 7 years 0% 3% 1% 0% 2% 1%

7 to 8 years 6% 1% 3% 0% 2% 1%

more than 8 years 37% 9% 21% 43% 1% 18%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

EPRA Gross Initial Yield (GIY) 4.1% 6.7% 5.3% 4.1% 7.7% 5.6%

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) 3.7% 5.7% 4.6% 3.7% 6.5% 4.9%

See definition of terms on pages 147 to 149.

Segment information  
overview of the expiry of rental contracts
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG and its subsidiaries (together the Züblin Group) are focused on the management of the Group’s European 
real estate portfolio. In addition to Switzerland, the Züblin Group operates in Germany and employed 11 persons as of 31 March 2017 
(31 March 2016: 12), thereof in discontinued operations Germany four (31. March 2016: five employees).

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is a Swiss stock corporation domiciled at Klausstrasse 4 in Zurich, Switzerland, and is the parent
company of the Züblin Group. The shares of the Company are traded on the Main Segment of SIX Swiss Exchange.

2.1 Principles
The consolidated financial statements of the Züblin Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). The consolidated financial statements comply with Swiss statutory regulations as well as with the SIX Swiss Ex-
change Directive on Financial Reporting. The financial statements of the Züblin Group for the financial year ending 31 March 2017 
were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 May 2017. The Annual General Meeting, which in accordance with the Swiss Code of 
Obligations is responsible for approving the consolidated financial statements, will be held on 20 June 2017.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical costs, except for investment properties and deriv-
ative financial instruments, which are measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in Swiss francs (CHF), the Züblin Group’s reporting currency. All amounts 
are given in thousands of Swiss francs unless otherwise stated.

The individual financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements apply the same accounting and 
valuation principles.

1. General company information

2. Significant accounting  
policies
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2.2 Amendments to accounting principles
2.2.1 Amendments implemented in the current financial year
With the exception of standards and interpretations newly applied in the financial year, the consolidated financial statements are based 
on the same accounting and valuation principles used in the previous year.

The following Standards and Interpretations have been introduced since 1 April 2016:

– IAS 1 (rev.): Disclosure initiative          from 1.1.2016
– IAS 16 /IAS 38 (rev.): Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation   from 1.1.2016
– IAS 27 (rev.): Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements       from 1.1.2016
– IFRS 11 (rev.): Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations    from 1.1.2016
– IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts        from 1.1.2016
– IFRS 10/IFRS 12/IAS 28 (rev.): Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception    from 1.1.2016
– IAS 16/IAS 41 (rev.): Agriculture: Bearer Plants        from 1.1.2016
– Improvements to IFRS Cycle 2012-2014        from 1.1.2016

The above amendments, interpretations and improvements had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2.2.2 Future amendments to accounting policies
The following new or revised standards and interpretations are to be applied at the earliest for financial years beginning after 1 April 
2016:

– IFRS 9: Financial Instruments          from 1.1.2018
– IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers       from 1.1.2018
– IFRS 16: Leases          from 1.1.2019
– IFRS 10/IAS 28 (rev.): Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture to be determined
– IAS 12 (rev.): Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses     from 1.1.2017
– IAS 7 (rev.): Disclosure Initiative         from 1.1.2017
– Clarifications to IFRS 15: Revenue from Constracts with Customers     from 1.1.2018
– IFRS 2 (rev.): Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions   from 1.1.2018
– IFRS 4 (rev.): Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts   from 1.1.2018

None of the new or revised standards and interpretations were adopted early in the preparation of the financial statements of the Züblin
Group. Although a systematic analysis has not been performed, it is not anticipated that the new or amended standards and interpre-
tations above will have any material impact on the financial reporting of the Züblin Group. 

The new accounting standard IFRS 16 Leases will not have a material accounting effect for the lessor, however, lessors are expected 
to be affected due to the changed needs and behaviours from customers which impacts their business model and lease products.
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and judgment by the Company’s management.
These estimates and judgments affect the way in which assets, liabilities, income and expenses are reported and their valuation, as 
well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities and other disclosures in the financial statements. 

The actual outturn may differ from assumptions and estimates that have been used. In the event that they subsequently differ from the 
actual outturn, the initial estimates and assumptions are revised to reflect the changed circumstances during the financial year in which 
these changes occur. The primary discretionary estimates and judgements impacting the financial statements of the Company relate 
to the following instances:

3.1 Valuation and reporting of investment properties
Fair value is determined twice a year by independent external valuers. The valuations are performed in accordance with national and 
international standards and guidelines as set out in the International Valuation Standards (IVSC) and the standards of the Royal Char-
tered Surveyors (Red Book). “Fair value” is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
arm’s length transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The discounted cash flow (DCF) method is used to determine fair value on the valuation date. Under this method the fair value of a prop-
erty is determined by the sum of projected future net earnings discounted to the valuation date plus the discounted exit value. A detailed 
cash flow forecast is produced for the first ten years, with a residual value (exit value) being determined on basis of a perpetual annuity 
of the exit cash flow for the rest of the term. The projected gross rental income is determined on the basis of existing tenancies and 
assumptions on reletting at current market rents, with allowance made for the relevant marketing periods and the probability of current 
leases being renewed. The net rental income is taken as the gross rental income less property-specific costs that cannot be passed 
on to tenants plus maintenance and any renovation required for new rentals. The discount calculation is carried out separately for each 
property, taking account of its property-specific risks and opportunities, in line with market conditions and on a risk-adjusted basis. 

The independent valuer inspects the properties when they are bought, or after a minimum of three years or if substantial renovations 
are carried out. In order to determine the cash flows Züblin supplies the valuer with rent rolls, property cost statements and investment 
budgets. The valuation assumptions and results are plausibility checked by Group Management and discussed with the expert. 

3. Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements
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The chart below shows an analysis of the two main parameters with an impact on the valuation of the investment properties, the dis-
count rate and the market rent.

The graph shows the changes in the valuation of the investment portfolio in the continuing business area. The color refers to the change 
in the basic points / percentage change in market rents. In the left figure the average discount rate changes in steps of ± 10 basic 
points. Züblin has explained the effecets on the market value up to a maximum change of ± 40 basic points. The right figure shows 
the effects of changed market rents on the valuation of the investment properties. The market rent was adjusted in increments of 2%. 

If the average discount rate is increased by 20 basis points, this would result in a decrease in the portfolio value of 5.4%. The impact of 
the adjusted discount rates on the valuations is within the range of + 13.1% to -10.2%. The impact of adjusted market rents on valuations 
is within the range of + 7.1% to -7.1%.

The valuation method and the valuation assumptions used are shown in the property valuation report on the pages 127 to 130. 
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3.2 Income taxes
Estimates are necessary for the determination of current as well as deferred taxes. These assumptions relate to the following:

3.2.1 Current taxes
The Züblin Group is subject to taxation in Switzerland and Germany. The determination of the provision for current taxes in these juris-
dictions requires significant judgment by Group Management, as the final tax position of many transactions and calculations is unclear.

3.2.2 Deferred taxes
Capital gains tax is included in the calculation of deferred taxes on investment properties in Switzerland. These taxes are dependent 
upon the holding period of the assets, which is determined as follows: for properties that are held for sale, the actual holding period 
has been used. For all other properties, either a period of fifteen years, or the actual holding period if greater than fifteen years, has 
been assumed. Assumptions are also necessary for deferred tax assets from tax loss carry-forwards. These losses are only capitalized 
when the use of the losses in the future is probable. The determination as to whether such losses can be offset in the future is based 
on estimates of the future cash flows deriving from the property, together with estimates by Group Management on the likelihood of 
utilization of these loss carry-forwards in future periods. Based upon these factors, a probability is assigned to each potential asset 
and subsequently valued and recorded.

3.3 Discontinued operations
As of balance sheet date, the business segment “Germany” – consisting of the shareholding of 100 % of the share capital of the fol-
lowing subsidiaries, ZUB Immobilien GmbH, ZIAG Immobilien AG, Mittlerer Pfad 2-4 Immobilien GmbH and Weilimmo AG, ) – has been 
classified as a disposal group held for sale. This reclassification reflects the ongoing negotiations with a potential investor as well as the 
assessment of the Board of Directors and Management concerning the implementation probability of the planned transaction within 
the next twelve months.
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4.1 Method of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG and its subsidiaries for the 
financial year ending on 31 March. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent 
company, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, i. e. from the date on which the Group obtains control of the subsidiary.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquired business is equal to the total consid-
eration transferred measured at fair value at the date of acquisition plus non-controlling equity interests. The acquirer measures the 
non-controlling equity interests either at fair value or as the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired company. 
The costs incurred in the course of the business combination are recognized as an expense. Capital is consolidated using the acqui-
sition method. Assets and liabilities are therefore included in the consolidated financial statements at their fair values on the date of 
acquisition.

4.2 Scope of consolidation
The scope of consolidation did not change in the current financial year. The composition of the group of consolidated entities is set 
out in the note on page 119 of the consolidated financial statements. During the financial year 2015/2016 the Group has effected its 
economic withdrawal from the French market by reduceing its investment to 33.5% (17.3% on a diluted basis). As of 31 July 2015 ZIF 
was deconsolidated and is now accounted for as an investment in associates. See also note 7 for further details. 

4.3 Translation of foreign currencies
4.3.1 Foreign currency transactions
All transactions are converted using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items valued at historical cost are converted 
using the rate prevailing on the transaction date, and non-monetary items measured at fair value are converted using the rate appli-
cable as of the date of the calculation of fair value. Differences arising from conversion to closing rates are recognized in the income 
statement.

4. Consolidation principles
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4.3.2 Foreign subsidiaries
The conversion of the financial statements of consolidated Züblin Group companies that are prepared in foreign currencies is per-
formed on the basis of the functional currency concept using the Modified Closing Rate Method. As of the balance sheet date, the fi-
nancial statements of the consolidated Züblin Group companies are translated from the functional currency into the reporting currency. 
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are converted as follows: the balance sheet, with the exception of equity, is converted at 
the year-end rates, while income and expenses are converted at the average exchange rates for the reporting year. Equity ist converted 
at historical rates. The effects of these conversions are recorded directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 
the position “Currency translation adjustment”. Conversion differences relating to Züblin Group internal loans, where repayment is not 
anticipated in the foreseeable future, or is unlikely, and which are consequently qualified as net investments in a foreign company, are 
also recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the position “Currency translation adjustments”.

If the Company were to cease operating activities in one of these countries the relevant portion of the currency translation adjustments 
would be derecognized through profit or loss.

in CHF Balance sheet rate Balance sheet rate Average rate Average rate

31.3.2017 31.3.2016 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

1 EUR 1.0696 1.0931 1.0836 1.0737

5.1 Income statement

5.1.1 Rental income
Income reported from real estate operations is comprised exclusively of rental income after consideration of vacancies. Rental income 
is recorded on an accrual basis as of the date at which the rent is due. Income and expenses related service charges for instance 
payments for heating, lighting and other services are not included. 

5.1.2 Real estate expense
Real estate expenses include costs directly associated with the individual properties, and include costs for administration, bad debts, 
insurance, facility management, legal costs, taxes and other fees.

5. Accounting and valuation  
principles
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5.1.3 Maintenance and repairs
Maintenance and repairs includes the cost of maintenance and repairs of investment properties incurred during the financial year and is 
charged to the income statement. Expenditures that result in an increase in value are capitalized and reflected in the valuations.

5.1.4 Administrative expense
All expenses that cannot be allocated directly to individual investment properties are recorded as administrative expenses. These 
include personnel expenses as well as the compensation of the Board of Directors. Additionally, administrative costs include fees for 
legal, other taxes (e. g. capital taxes), appraisal and audit services, as well as other expenses of an overhead nature. These costs are 
recorded on an accrual basis.

5.1.5 Result from the sale of investment properties
The result from the sale of investment properties represents the difference between net sales proceeds and the latest reported market 
value of the individual property, including investments up to the date of the sale. The result is realized at the time of the transfer of risks 
and rewards, which is usually the date on which the contract is signed in the presence of the notary or the date of registration in the 
land register.

5.1.6 Change in market value of investment properties
Changes in the market value of investment properties are recorded in the income statement in accordance with IAS 40. 

5.1.7 Financial expense
Financial expenses primarily include interest expense on debt financing, including the interest impact from derivative financial instruments. 
All financial expenses are accrued and recognized in the income statement on the basis of the effective interest method. Financial expens-
es also include losses on currency translation.

5.1.8 Income taxes
Income taxes are comprised of current and deferred taxes. Income taxes are recorded directly in the income statement unless they 
are incurred as part of a transaction related to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. In such cases, the income taxes 
are recorded directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in a manner consistent with the underlying transaction. 
Current taxes are comprised of taxes due on the taxable earnings of the Company calculated using the tax rate in effect as of the 
balance sheet date, together with capital gains tax on the sales of assets and adjustments to tax liabilities or receivables from previous 
periods. Deferred taxes are the sum of all changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, with the exception of those amounts recorded 
directly into the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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5.2 Balance sheet
5.2.1 Investment properties
In accordance with revised IAS 40 / IFRS 13 investment properties are reported at market value. 

Fair value is determined twice a year by independent external valuers. The valuations are performed in accordance with national and 
international standards and guidelines as set out in the International Valuation Standards (IVSC) and the standards of the Royal Char-
tered Surveyors (Red Book). See also “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” on page 69.

Purchases are recorded at cost. Expenses incurred after the purchase of the property are capitalized if it is likely that future economic 
benefits will accrue to the Company. All other maintenance and repair costs are recognized in the income statement. The change in 
market value or the difference from the cost of acquisition on the first valuation date and the resultant deferred taxes are recognized 
through the income statement.

Investment properties are derecognized if they are sold or are no longer available for permanent use. Profits or losses on the disposal 
of investment properties are recognized in the income statement in the year of disposal.

There were no changes in valuation criteria or processes relating to IFRS 13 during the reporting period and there were no re-classifi-
cations within the categories. The investment properties recognized at fair value as at 31 March 2017 continue to qualify as level 3 fair 
value inputs as at 31 March 2016.

5.2.2 Investment properties held for sale
In accordance with IFRS 5, investment properties held for sale are reported in the balance sheet under current assets as a separate
item “Investment properties held for sale”. A property is reclassified under this item if the following criteria are met:

– The Board of Directors has formally resolved to dispose of the property,
– There is an intention to sell the property in the short term and it is being actively marketed,
– A judgment from Group Management that there is a high probability of the conclusion of the transaction within the next twelve months.

After reclassification the properties continue to be valued in accordance with the valuation procedures of 5.2.1 Investment properties.

5.2.3 Furnishing
Furnishings, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Office refurbishments and office furnishings 
are subject to straight-line depreciation over ten years and five years respectively, and IT equipment over three years. An evaluation is 
performed at every balance sheet date in order to determine whether there are indications that an impairment of the recorded value of 
furnishings and equipment might be necessary. If evidence exists that the book value is no longer realizable, the difference between 
the book value of the asset and the realizable value is written off.
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5.2.4 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxes are calculated using the Balance Sheet Liability Method and reflect temporary differences as of the balance sheet date 
between the book value of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the underlying tax accounts. The calcu-
lation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based upon local tax rates and regulations substantially enacted as of the balance sheet 
date. Additionally, in Switzerland a holding period of a minimum of fifteen years applies in the calculation of deferred taxes (see also 
3.2.2 “Deferred taxes”). Deferred tax assets from tax loss carry-forwards are only recorded to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable income in the future to offset the tax loss carry-forwards and related tax assets. There are no deferred tax 
liabilities for temporary differences related to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, since the Züblin Group can manage the reversal of 
the temporary difference, and it is likely that these differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are netted when there is legal justification for such treatment and when the deferred taxes relate to companies from a single entity for 
tax purposes and to the same tax authority.

5.2.5 Financial instruments
Financial instruments include both financial assets and financial liabilities and are classified under the following primary categories:

– Financial instruments valued at fair value through the income statement
– Loans and receivables at amortized cost
– Financial investments held to maturity
– Financial investments held for sale
– Financial liabilities at amortized cost
– Derivative financial instruments which are designated as effective hedging instruments

The derivative financial instruments held at 31 March 2017 continue to fall into the level 2 fair value category, as was the case at 31 
March 2016.

Recognition
Financial assets are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when the Züblin Group has a contractual right to receive cash or 
other financial assets from another party. Financial liabilities are recorded when there is a contractual obligation for a cash payment or 
the delivery of a financial asset.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognized if the contractual rights to payments arising from the financial assets expire or if the financial assets 
are transferred along with all material risks and rewards. Furthermore, financial liabilities are derecognized when the liability is settled 
via payment or assignment of a financial asset.

Valuation
The first-time valuation of all financial instruments which are relevant for the Züblin Group is at fair value plus directly attributable trans-
action costs, except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. The subsequent valuation is based upon one 
of the categories used by the Company, as listed above.
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5.2.6 Loans and receivables at amortized cost
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments that are not traded in an active 
market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost. Interest from items in this category is calculated using the effective 
interest rate method. The following assets are allocated to this measurement category:

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are comprised of receivables arising from the leasing activities of investment properties.

Other current receivables
Other receivables are those which do not arise from leasing activities of investment properties, particularly those from service charges 
passed on to tenants and cash and cash equivalents which cannot be drawn within three months. 

Trade receivables as well as other current receivables are continually reviewed for potential impairment of their value. The determination 
that an impairment exists is based on individual analysis of the asset in conjunction with any related security. The book value of the 
receivable is reduced by the amount of the impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand, cash balances in postal and bank accounts, as well as short-term securi-
ties with a duration of less than three months.

5.2.7 Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments. The subsequent val-
uation is at amortized cost under the effective interest method, whereby gains and losses on these positions are recorded in the income 
statement when they are derecognized or when interest is applied. The following liabilities in the consolidated financial statements are 
classified under this measurement category:

Shareholder loans
Shareholder loans are loans made by shareholders to the Company on which the Company pays a fixed interest rate. 

Mortgages
Mortgages represent loans concluded in order to purchase real estate and are secured by liens on the real estate. The mortgage 
loan portfolio of the Züblin Immobilien Group may include both variable and fixed rates of interest. A differentiation is made between 
non-current and current mortgages based on future repayments. Repayments due within twelve months or amounts that are callable 
within the next twelve months are classified as current, and the rest as non-current. In the case of investment properties held for sale, 
the property is classified as a current asset. The corresponding mortgage is also reclassified to current liabilities as mortgages held for 
sale. Mortgages are concluded in the same currency as the underlying investments.
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Accounts payable
Accounts payable consist of obligations that arise in connection with the investment properties, for example with leasing activities or 
renovation of a property.

All other short- and long-term liabilities
These include all other liabilities of the Company, lease payments received in advance, tenant deposits, VAT liabilities as well as sundry 
accruals.

5.2.8 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments designated as effective hedging instruments
The Züblin Group uses derivative financial instruments, exclusively interest rate forward contracts and swaps, as part of its active 
management of the earnings spread between net rental income and refinancing costs. The swaps are treated as cash flow hedges 
and are recorded at fair value. The Züblin Group applies hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39. For a financial instrument to be 
accounted for as a hedging transaction, the hedging instrument and the underlying transaction must satisfy particular requirements 
in terms of documentation, event probability, effectiveness, and reliability of measurement. As far as these requirements are met, the 
changes in fair value of underlying hedging instrument are recorded through consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any 
remaining ineffective portion would be recorded in the income statement as financial income or expense.

5.2.9 Provisions
Provisions are recorded if a legal or constructive obligation exists based on past events that will result in a probable outflow of funds, 
and where this outflow can be reliably estimated. Provisions are regularly reviewed and, if required, adjusted. They correspond to the 
current best estimate of liabilities.

5.2.10 Equity
Equity is comprised of share capital, capital reserves, retained earnings, treasury shares, reserve for cash flow hedges and foreign 
currency translation. Share capital includes the nominal value of the Company’s shares, which are issued and fully paid up. Par value 
reductions are ordinarily recorded in share capital. All earnings in the income statement are recorded in retained earnings. Other chang-
es in equity are recorded as changes in capital reserves.

5.2.11 Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recorded at acquisition cost in the account “treasury shares” and deducted from equity. Upon sale, the same 
amount is credited to “treasury shares”, with any resultant gain or loss recorded in retained earnings.



Page
79

Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report

Financial Report 
Group

5.2.12 Employee benefits – pension obligations
The Züblin Group has different pension schemes throughout the countries in which it operates. The schemes are generally funded 
through payments to insurance companies. The Züblin Group has a defined benefit plan in Switzerland and defined contribution plans 
in Germany. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Züblin Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
The Züblin Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay 
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and previous periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that 
is not a defined contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

In the balance sheet, the long-term obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized past-service costs 
and actuarial gains and losses. Changes in the obligation are recorded directly in comprehensive income (OCI approach). The defined 
benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit method. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the 
terms of the related pension liability. For defined contribution plans, Züblin Group companies pay contributions to privately administered 
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Züblin Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contribu-
tions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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5.2.13 Discontinued operations held for sale
The Group classifies disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a distribution rather 
than through continuing use. Such disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell or to distribute.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the disposal group is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. Group Management must be committed to the sale expected within one year from the date 
of the classification.

Assets directly associated with the disposal group as well as liabilities are presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it:

– represents a group component which is a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units
– classified as held for sale or has been disposed of in this manner or
– represents a major line of business or major geographical area.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as result from 
discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement. The prior-year figures of the income statement items are adjusted 
accordingly.

5.3 Segment reporting (IFRS 8)
Segment reporting is based upon the “management approach”. The internal decision makers of the Züblin Group are aligned with the 
segments which are based on the geographic location of the investment properties. As supplementary information, the segments are 
also presented according to investment categories. The Züblin Group has defined its investment categories as follows: office, retail and 
logistics.
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The Züblin Group attaches considerable importance to active risk management. The Company has an integrated risk management 
program which identifies and evaluates the material risks facing the Company and mitigates them through appropriate action. The 
Board of Directors is charged with overseeing the Company’s risk management activities and reviews the status of all risks that have 
been identified, including the action taken to mitigate them, with Group Management at least quarterly in order to reduce or eliminate 
these risks.

The Züblin Group’s primary business is the acquisition of real estate, mainly in the German-speaking markets, and the creation of value 
through the active asset management and sale of such properties. To finance new acquisitions of investment properties, new loans 
are taken out in the currency of the relevant country for up to 60% of the investment. The loans are a mixture of fixed and floating-rate 
mortgages. The maturities and conditions attaching to these loans depend on the rental situation and the planned timeframe for the 
sale of the relevant properties.

Business risks are those risks which are inherent to the business strategy or may arise as a consequence of business activities. A clear 
description of these risks enables shareholders to assess the risk/return profile of the Company and its various investment products. 
The primary risks for the Züblin Group are comprised of the following:

– Real estate market risks
– Renovation risks
– Selling risks
– Financial risks
   – Financial market risks
   – Credit risks
   – Liquidity risks
   – Equity risks/capital management
– Regulatory and tax risks
– Internal organization and human risks

2.1 Real estate market risks
The management of real estate market risks is one of the core competencies of the Züblin Group. Essentially, these risks are comprised 
of two specific categories – the cyclical risks of the real estate market and rental market risk.

Cyclical real estate market risks are related to fluctuations inherent to the overall commercial real estate market and the related impact 
on the valuations of the Züblin Group’s investment portfolio. These risks can be partially mitigated by the Züblin Group’s strategy of 
geographical diversification.

1. Background

2. Risk categories

Risik management
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Risks in connection with a change in discount rates as well as changes in market rents are risks that affect the entire property market. 
The sensitivity analyses on page 70 show the impact on the property valuations in each country where Züblin is invested. 

Rental market risks relate to the use of the property, the tenant mix, the creditworthiness of the tenants, the vacancy rate, the ability 
to increase rents, and the recoverability of running costs. Through its local asset management activities, the Company is constantly 
managing controllable risk factors, and is focused on proactively mitigating these risks where possible. In its regular meetings Group 
Management evaluates the overall concentration risk of its tenant structure, reviews any material changes to the credit standing of its 
significant tenants, as well as current or pending changes to the vacancy rates in all markets. Where necessary, the Board of Directors 
is alerted to material changes in the Züblin Group’s specific risk profile.

2.2 Renovation risks
Renovation projects entail a variety of risks. These include obtaining the relevant building permits, the budgeting of costs and adher-
ence to the budget. Moreover, there is also uncertainty as to whether renovation work will be completed on time and with the required 
quality, and about the financing and subsequent letting of the property. In order to minimize these uncertainties the Züblin Group 
works with carefully selected partners and maintains strict cost control over the projects. In addition projects are only started once the 
financing has been secured. Züblin Group’s asset management actively begins to market the properties for letting at the latest when 
the construction work begins.

2.3 Selling risks
The sale of investment properties is subject to the market environment prevailing at the proposed date of the sale and the risks associated 
with this. In order to mitigate these risks Züblin obtains internal and external market analyses before taking any divestment decision. More-
over, unpredictable economic developments and local circumstances can cause delays in planned selling transactions.

2.4 Financial risks
Financial risk management within the Züblin Group is performed in accordance with the principles established by the Board of Directors. In 
particular, these principles govern the management of liquidity and the procurement of short-term and long-term loans.

2.4.1 Financial market risks
The main financial risks encountered by the Züblin Group are market risks. These risks include (i) currency risks arising from transac-
tions and investments in countries outside Switzerland, (ii) interest rate-related fair value risks, where fluctuations in market interest rates 
can result in a change in the fair value of a financial instrument, and (iii) interest rate-related cash flow risks, where changes in market 
interest rates can result in a change in the future cash flows of a financial instrument.
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Currency risks
The Züblin Group’s investment property portfolio of the continuing operations lies to 100% in Switzerland. The investment property 
portfolio of the discontinuing operations is fully located in the euro zone. Most of the resulting currency risk is eliminated by directly 
financing these investments in euros. Currency risks related to borrowing denominated in other currencies stem from intercompany 
loans of CHF 45.0 million (previous year CHF 44.9 million). The impact on the consolidated equity of the Züblin Group arising from a 
5% change in the Swiss franc – euro exchange rate would therefore be CHF 2.3 million (previous year CHF 2.2 million), based on the 
intercompany loans as of 31 March 2017. 

The Company also faces currency risks relating to the equity invested in the euro zone, as well as the net income stemming from the 
euro zone, neither of which are hedged. As such, Group Management, together with the Board of Directors, actively monitors the 
impact of changes in the Swiss franc – euro exchange rate on the Züblin Group’s net earnings and total equity. As of 31 March 2017, 
a 5% change in the Swiss franc – euro exchange rate would have an impact of CHF 0.3 million (previous year CHF 0.3 million) on the 
Züblin Group’s earnings before taxes and an impact of CHF 2.9 million (previous year CHF 2.7 million) on the Züblin Group’s total equity.

Interest rate risks
Interest rate risks arise from fluctuations in interest rates and movements in the yield curve. These risks are only incurred insofar as is 
necessary for optimal funding of the investment property portfolio. Interest rate risks are minimized by selecting suitable interest rate 
and maturity structures. Where appropriate, interest rate risks are hedged using targeted financial instruments in order to optimize in-
come. Decisions regarding the use of such instruments are made by Group Management in accordance with the guidelines laid down 
by the Board of Directors. The Züblin Group does not enter into speculative financial transactions of any kind

Changes in interest rates have an effect on the Züblin Group’s balance sheet and earnings situation. In terms of interest expense, they 
primarily result in changes in the expense relating to mortgage loans. The Züblin Group currently has a net exposure of CHF 93.5 million 
(previous year CHF 17.6 million) to changes in interest movements through its unhedged financial liabilities position. A change in interest 
rates by 50 basis points would again have an impact of CHF 0.4 million (previous year CHF 0.5 million) on the Company’s earnings. The 
Züblin Group’s equity would also be impacted by a move in interest rates through the revaluation of its cash flow hedging instruments. 
A 50 basis point move in interest rates would have an impact of CHF 4.5 million (previous year CHF 5.5 million) on consolidated equity.

Refinancing risks
Züblin finances around 60% of the investment properties via mortgages. The Group depends on the ability and willingness of financial 
institutions to extend or offer loans to the Group on reasonable term, including term regarding collateral requirements. The general 
conditions for real estate financing are subject to constant change. Any negative development of general economic, regulatory and 
business conditions may adversly impact the Group’s ability to borrow from banks or may significantly increase the cost of such bor-
rowings. In order to minimize refinancing risks Züblin seeks to continuously diversify its borrowing.
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2.4.2 Credit risks
The Company is primarily exposed to credit risk through its rental activities. This risk is monitored at a local level and is dispersed 
among a large number of tenants. If there is a higher risk with an individual tenant, local management remains in regular contact with 
the tenant’s management and proactively monitors their financial position. As of the current year-end, there were no tenant accounts 
significantly in arrears. Within the Züblin Group, default risks mainly relate to rental receivables. In respect of rental receivables, the 
Züblin Group performs regular, extensive analyses of the collectability of outstanding receivables on a local basis, and where neces-
sary, records a value adjustment in accordance with internal guidelines. Impaired receivables are written off if, in the opinion of local 
management, there is a high probability that part or all of the receivable will not be collected, or if debt collection action taken against 
the debtor is unsuccessful.

Credit risk arising from the investment of liquidity is limited by the fact that the Züblin Group works exclusively with banking partners with 
excellent credit standing. The Züblin Group itself receives no collateral for its credit risk, therefore the theoretical risk of default equals the 
positive book values of the financial instruments.

No significant default risk existed at the current or previous financial year-end so that, in the opinion of Group Management, the risk that 
partners fail to meet their contractual obligations is very slight, although it cannot be entirely ruled out. In the case of financial assets that are 
neither overdue nor impaired there were, as in the previous year, no indications that the debtors will fail to meet their payment obligations.
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2.4.3 Liquidity risks
The Züblin Group aims to ensure a balance between maintaining ongoing coverage of its cash requirements and ensuring sufficient 
financial flexibility through the use of overdraft facilities and short-term loans. Cash balances are monitored on a local as well as a Group 
basis, and are reviewed at the Group level on a weekly basis. A detailed cash management plan which takes into account future invest-
ments, debt service and other operational cash needs, as well as anticipated cash receipts, is prepared monthly and action is taken 
where necessary to ensure that cash reserves are sufficient to cover operational needs. Furthermore, this monthly liquidity analysis is 
reviewed by the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. As at 31 March 2017 the Züblin Group had access to short-term credit facilities 
of CHF 0.3 million (previous year: CHF 5.3 million). The Group also held cash and cash equivalents, including short-term shareholder 
loan, of CHF 13.1 million (previous year CHF 16.5 million) at 31 March 2017.

2.4.4 Equity risks/capital management
The Züblin Group’s primary aim when managing its capital is to secure a level of equity appropriate for an internationally active real es-
tate management company. The primary tool the Züblin Group uses to monitor its equity is its consolidated equity to total assets ratio. 
The Züblin Group has set its target at a minimum equity to total assets ratio of 40%. The Züblin Group believes that this level of equity 
ensures a high credit rating while allowing sufficient leverage to grow the business and maximize shareholder value. In order to adjust 
the equity ratio and to maintain the requisite capital structure, the following measures can be utilized by the Züblin Group: (i) adjustment 
of dividends or capital repayments or (ii) the issuance of new shares.

2.5 Regulatory and tax risks
Changes in legislation, regulations, standards, interpretations and the like can have a financial impact on Züblin’s business environment. 
These risks are closely monitored and managed. 

2.6 Internal organization and human resources
The risks associated with the outsourcing of certain tasks and with the filling of roles internally are also monitored on an ongoing basis.
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 in CHF thousand Switzerland Total

 Financial year 2015/2016 

 Rental income in presentation currency 7 920 7 920

 Financial year 2016/2017 

 Rental income in presentation currency 8 030 8 030

 Change to previous year 110

 arising from: 

 - Vacancy and indexation 110

The rental income slightly increased compared with the previous year. This increase of CHF 0.1 million is primarily due to vacancy reduction 
in the properties Bern and Egg.

in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Marketing costs –121 –34

Other property-related expense –103 –90

Non recoverable service charges –48 –98

External property management fees –26 –22

Property taxes –12 –26

Legal fees –2 0

Bad debts 0 –3

Total real estate expense –312 –273

The increase in marketing costs of kCHF 87 relates to leasing activities in Berne. Non recoverable service charges fell by kCHF 50 to 
kCHF 48. Overall total real estate expenses increased by kCHF 39.

1. Rental income

2. Real estate expenses

Other notes



Page
87

Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report

Financial Report 
Group

in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Salaries and Board of Directors' fees –3 069 –2 550

Other advisory and investor relations –304 –1 041

Bookkeeping and IT –213 –188

Rent expenses –209 –301

Travel expenses –202 –213

Other administrative expense –191 –77

Audit –164 –295

Legal and tax advisory –137 –218

Valuation –42 –1

Depreciation –13 –31

Other taxes 353 –63

Total administrative expense –4 191 –4 978

Overall administrative expenses decreased by CHF 0.8 million, reflecting the significant reduction in consultancy costs. Also the adjust-
ment of the capital tax reserve had a positive impact on administrative expenses.

3. Administrative expenses
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in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Financial expense

Mortgage- and swap interest expenses 1 2 –1 856 –961

Interest expense and other financial charges 1 –36 –45

Interest expense shareholder loan 1 0 –5 646

Interest expense 4% bond Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 1 0 –461

Currency translation adjustments –492 –1 665

Total financial expense –2 384 –8 778

Financial income

Interest income 3 1 43

Interest income shareholder loan 3 389 19

Total financial income 390 62

Net financial expense –1 994 –8 716

1  The respective liabilities belong to the category "Financial liabilities at amortized cost".
2  The liabilities from interest swaps belong to the category "Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss".
3  The assets to which this income relates belong to the category "Loans and receivables at amortized cost".

Financial expense
Financial expenses decreased by CHF 6.4 million to CHF 2.4 million (previous year CHF 8.8 million). This is due to several reasons:  
On the one hand, the shareholder loan was repaid in full, resulting in interest savings of CHF 5.6 million. On the other hand, the currency 
losses decreased by CHF 1.2 million. The mortgage rates were unchanged compared to the previous year. The prevailing negative 
interest rate led to the fact that the interest rate hedging of the CHF 80 million swap was no longer effective. At the time of the effective-
ness test, net unrealized losses recognized in equity were CHF 2.1 million. These losses will be written off over the remaining lifetime of 
the swap. In the current financial year there were swap interest expenses amounting to CHF 0.8 million (prior year CHF 0).

Financial income
The Züblin Group recorded financial income of CHF 0.4 million (previous year CHF 0.1 million) mainly resulting from the loan granted to 
the main shareholder of CHF 13.0 million.

4. Financial expense and income
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 in CHF thousand Switzerland Holding 1 Total

Financial year 2016/2017

Income taxes in profit and loss

Current taxes –0 0 –0

Current taxes from previous year –444 –11 –454

Total current taxes –444 –11 –454

Changes in tax loss carry forwards 89 0 89

Changes in valuation –1 232 0 –1 232

Changes in other positions 0 –49 –49

Total deferred taxes –1 143 –49 –1 192

Total income taxes in profit and loss –1 587 –59 –1 646

Income taxes in comprehensive income statement

Current taxes in equity 0 0 0

Deferred taxes in equity 527 0 527

Total income taxes in comprehensive income statement 527 0 527

Financial year 2015/2016

Income taxes in profit and loss

Current taxes 0 0 0

Current taxes from previous year 1 027 9 1 037

Total current taxes 1 027 9 1 037

Changes in tax loss carry forwards 1 445 0 1 445

Changes in valuation –1 740 0 –1 740

Changes in other positions 957 32 989

Total deferred taxes 662 32 694

Total income taxes in profit and loss 1 689 42 1 731

Income taxes in comprehensive income statement

Current taxes in equity 0 0 0

Deferred taxes in equity –527 0 –527

Total income taxes in comprehensive income statement –527 0 –527

1  Related to all non-property companies.

5. Income taxes
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 in CHF thousand Switzerland Holding 1 Total

Financial year 2016/2017

Profit before tax 7 796 –4 037 3 759

Reference rate 2 20.77% 7.50% 16.24%

Income taxes at reference rate –1 619 303 –1 316

Income taxes recogized in Profit & Loss –1 587 –59 –1 646

Difference 32 –362 –330

Adjustments:

- Non tax-deductible expenses 0 0 0

- Changes in tax rates on deferred tax positions –104 0 –104

- Items taxed at other than reference rate –116 0 –116

- Changes in loss carry forwards not recognized 712 –194 518

- Income taxes from previous periods –444 –11 –454

- Others –17 –169 –186

Financial year 2015/2016

Profit before tax 11 443 –7 822 3 621

Reference rate 2 21.15% 9.55% 19.71%

Income taxes at reference rate –2 420 747 –1 673

Income taxes recogized in Profit & Loss 1 689 42 1 731

Difference 4 109 –705 3 404

Adjustments:

- Non tax-deductible expenses 0 –554 –554

- Changes in tax rates on deferred tax positions –69 0 –69

- Items taxed at other than reference rate –162 0 –162

- Changes in loss carry forwards not recognized 3 315 –200 3 115

- Income taxes from previous periods 1 027 9 1 036

- Others –2 40 38

1  Related to all non-property companies.
2  The reference tax rate for the Group is calculated at 16,24% (previous year 19,71%). The calculation was made using absolute numbers.

Income tax reconciliation
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Income taxes
In the financial year 2016/2017 Züblin Group recorded income tax expenses of CHF 1.6 million (previous year tax income of CHF 1.7 
million). Of this, CHF 0.4 million relates to current income taxes (previous year income of CHF 1.0 million) and CHF 1.2 million to deferred 
income taxes (previous year income of CHF 0.7 million). The deferred income tax expense is mainly due to expenses from valuation 
differences.

The decrease in the weighted average tax rate from 19.71% to 16.24% was primarily due to changes in the share of the individual 
companies in the total result.



Page
92

Züblin Group 
Annual Report 16_17

The Year in Review
Letter to Shareholders

Portfolio
Corporate Governance
Compensation Report

Financial Report 
Group

The result of the discontinued operations in the financial year 2016/2017 comprises the German segment and shows a profit of CHF 
27.8 million In the previous year the loss of CHF 20.1 million relates to the segment France (loss of CHF 26.6 million) and the segment 
Germany (profit of CHF 6.5 million).

in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Rental income 10 899 12 744

Total operating income 10 899 12 744

Real estate expense –650 –2 779

Maintenance and repairs –654 –869

Net operating income 9 596 9 096

Administrative expense –1 011 –4 547

Result from the sale of investment properties 0 –195

Change in market value 23 954 –2 353

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 32 539 2 001

Financial expense / income –2 855 –6 775

Changes in market value of swaps 0 –4 158

Currency losses 0 –10 958

Financial income 10 33

Earnings before taxes (EBT) from discontinued operations 29 694 –19 857

Income taxes –1 881 –234

Earnings from discontinued operations 27 813 –20 091

of which attributable to:

- Shareholders of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 27 813 –17 473

- Non-controlling interests 0 –2 618

Earnings per share from discontinued operations 8.38 –6.10

. 

6. Discontinued operations
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Net Assets of the German segment are as follows:  

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Assets

Investment properties 158 702 135 391

Furnishing 101 117

Trade accounts receivable 189 339

Other receivables 7 877 6 233

Cash and cash equivalents 881 772

Assets directly associated with disposal group 167 750 142 852

Liabilities

Mortgages 97 162 102 065

Derivative financial instruments 3 133 4 418

Trade accounts payable 458 367

Other liabilities 11 216 8 301

Liabilities directly associated with disposal group 111 969 115 151

Net Assets directly associated with disposal group 55 781 27 701

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income:

Reserve for cash flow hedges –4 459 –5 465

Currency translation adjustments –29 349 –28 850

Reserve of discontinued operation –33 808 –34 315

At the time of closing, unrealized losses on currency and cash flow hedges currently provided for in equity in the reserves of discon-
tinued operations, will have to be recycled through profit and loss. This will have a negative impact on next years annual results in the 
amount of CHF 33.8 million, however it will not have an impact on NAV.

As of 31 March, 2016 there were no net assets attributable to France, as this division was sold as at 31 July, 2015.
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The net cash flows of the discontinued operations are as follows:

in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Operating activities 8 971 6 567

Investing activities –2 955 3 258

Financing activities –5 907 –10 717

Net-Cashflow 109 –893

French business segment
In financial year 2015/2016 Züblin economically withdraw from the French market. As a result, the Group accounts the French segment 
as an investment in associates. The new investor received a call option from Züblin to buy its remaining shares in Officiis Properties 
SA (formerly Züblin Immobilière France SA) during a term of 5 years at a price depending on the financial vacancy rate in the French 
portfolio. Züblin has written off its remaining interest in the French associate.

German business segment
Due to the high demand for business properties with a low vacancy rate at attractive locations, a strong sales market for investment 
properties prevails in Germany. Following an in-depth analysis, the Board of Directors decided to sell the German portfolio and com-
missioned a real estate broker. The purchase contract is currently being prepared with one bidder. The aim is to complete this transac-
tion within the first half year 2017/2018. The findings from the bidding process were taken into account in the valuation of the German 
properties.
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 in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Average number of shares entitled to dividends 3 318 027 2 863 557

Earnings of shareholders of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 29 926 –16 326

therof

  from continuing operations 2 113 1 147

  from discontinuing operations 27 813 –17 473

Earnings per share in CHF 9.02 –5.70

therof

  from continuing operations 0.64 0.40

  from discontinuing operations 8.38 –6.10

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG has no equity instruments which would lead to a dilution.

7. Earnings per share
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in CHF thousand Switzerland 
continuing  
operations

Germany 
discontinued  

operations

Balance as of 31.3.2016 195 860 135 391

Value-enhancing investments 251 2 610

    Positive change in market value 5 044 24 450

    Negative change in market value –2 675 –496

Change in market value 2 369 23 954

Currency translation adjustments 0 –3 253

Balance as of 31.3.2017 198 480 158 702

 

in CHF thousand Switzerland 
continuing  
operations

Germany 
discontinued  

operations

Balance as of 31.3.2015 189 720 131 928

Value-enhancing investments 488 2 798

Sales 0 –7 072

    Positive change in market value 6 932 4 823

    Negative change in market value –1 280 –2 725

Change in market value 5 652 2 098

Currency translation adjustments 0 5 639

Balance as of 31.3.2016 195 860 135 391

8. Investment properties

Financial year 2016/2017

Financial year 2015/2016
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The principles and assumptions applied in the valuation of the investment properties are set out in the detailed valuation report on 
pages 127 to 130.

Overall, the market value of the Swiss portfolio was revalued upwards by CHF 2.4 million from CHF 195.9 million to CHF 198.5 million. 
The market value of the four properties in the Zuerich region increased overall by CHF 4.8 million, the property in Bern was adjusted 
downwards by CHF 2.4 million. The revaluations resulted from the current positive market environment and the vacancy reductions 
achieved during the last financial year.

In the discontinued operations Germany the value of the investment properties increased by CHF 23.3 million to CHF 158.7 million. 
There were revaluation gains on the properties in the amount of CHF 24.0 million of which CHF 13.2 million relate to the contemplated 
transaction. 

A complete list of all investment properties along with all information in accordance with the Directive on Financial Reporting of the 
SIX Swiss Exchange can be found on pages 13 to 20. This additional information is an integral part of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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in CHF thousand Office furnishing 
and fittings

EDP Total 2016/2017 Total 2015/2016

Acquisition costs

Balance as of 1.4. 44 94 138 470

Additions 59 0 59 12

Disposals 0 0 0 –55

Currency translation adjustments 0 0 0 13

Assets directly associated with disposal group 0 0 0 –302

Balance as of 31.3. 103 94 197 138

Accumulated depreciation

Balance as of 1.4. 40 94 134 334

Additions 13 0 13 31

Disposals 0 0 0 –55

Currency translation adjustments 0 0 0 9

Assets directly associated with disposal group 0 0 0 –185

Balance as of 31.3. 53 94 147 134

Net book value as of 31.3. 50 0 50 4

9. Furnishing
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 in CHF thousand  Switzerland Holding 1  Total 

Financial year 2016/2017

Deferred tax assets arising from:

- Tax loss carry-forwards 2 968 0 2 968

- Other valuation differences 0 71 71

Total deferred tax assets as of 31.3.2017 2 968 71 3 039

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:

- Positive valuations of investment properties 11 805 0 11 805

Total deferred tax liabilities as of 31.3.2017 11 805 0 11 805

Net amounts as presented in balance sheet

Presented deferred tax assets 0 71 71

Presented deferred tax liabilities 8 837 0 8 837

Net deferred tax liabilities

Balance as of 31.3.2016 –7 165 119 –7 046

Deferred taxes recognized in profit & loss –1 145 –48 –1 193

Deferred taxes recognized in equity –527 0 –527

Balance as of 31.3.2017 –8 837 71 –8 766

1  Related to all non-property companies.

10. Deferred tax assets and  
liabilities
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 in CHF thousand  Switzerland Holding 1  Total 

Financial year 2015/2016

Deferred tax assets arising from:

- Tax loss carry-forwards 3 408 0 3 408

- Other valuation differences 0 119 119

Total deferred tax assets as of 31.3.2016 3 408 119 3 527

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:

- Positive valuations of investment properties 10 573 0 10 573

Total deferred tax liabilities as of 31.3.2016 10 573 0 10 573

Net amounts as presented in balance sheet

Presented deferred tax assets 0 119 119

Presented deferred tax liabilities 7 165 0 7 165

Net deferred tax liabilities

Balance as of 31.3.2015 –8 833 87 –8 746

Deferred taxes recognized in profit & loss 662 32 694

Deferred taxes recognized in equity 1 006 0 1 006

Currency translation adjustments 0 0 0

Balance as of 31.3.2016 –7 165 119 –7 046

1  Related to all non-property companies.
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 in CHF thousand  Switzerland Holding 1  Total 

Tax loss carry-forwards

As of 31.3.2017 18 302 337 072 355 374

Maturity within

1 to 12 months 0 57 770 57 770

1 to 3 years 0 91 112 91 112

3 to 5 years 18 302 187 156 205 458

more than 5 years 0 1 034 1 034

without time limitation 0 0 0

Captialization:

not capitalized 0 337 072 337 072

capitalized 18 302 0 18 302

capitalized at reference tax rate 2 968 0 2 968

As of 31.3.2016 35 650 545 838 581 488

Maturity within

1 to 12 months 0 190 071 190 071

1 to 3 years 0 74 664 74 664

3 to 5 years 10 170 130 909 141 079

more than 5 years 25 481 150 194 175 675

without time limitation 0 0 0

Captialization:

not capitalized 6 161 545 838 551 999

capitalized 29 489 0 29 489

capitalized at reference tax rate 3 408 0 3 408

1  Related to all non-property companies.
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in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Accounts  
receivable

Value 
adjustment

Accounts 
receivable

Value  
adjustment

Not yet due 0 0 0 0

< 30 days past due 20 0 3 0

30-60 days past due 15 0 0 0

61-90 days past due 4 0 58 0

91-180 days past due 0 0 0 0

181-360 days past due 0 0 0 0

Total 39 0 61 0

Total accounts receivable 39 61

As of the balance sheet date, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of CHF 1.1 million (previous year CHF 2.7 million).

11. Trade accounts receivable

12. Cash and cash equivalents
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Date Number of shares in CHF thousand

Issued shares at a nominal value CHF 1.00  31.3.15  59 724 486  59 724 

Changes in capital structure in financial year 2015/2016

Capital reduction through par value reduction from CHF 1.00 to CHF 0.05  1.12.15  -    –56 737 

Ordinary capital increase through issuing of new shares at nominal value of CHF 
0.05

 1.12.15  1 433 387 664  71 669 

Reverse stock split at the ratio of 450:1 to create new shares at nominal value of 
CHF 22.50

 3.3.16  –1 489 794 123  -   

Issued shares at a nominal value CHF 22.50  31.3.16  3 318 027  74 656 

No changes in capital structure in financial year 2016/2017  -    -   

Issued shares at a nominal value CHF 1.00  31.3.17  3 318 027  74 656 

During the previous financial year 2015/2016 the company sold all treasury shares. In the current finanical year no transactions with 
treasury shares took place. 

13. Equity

Share capital

Trasury shares
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Carrying 
value

< 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years > 5 years

in CHF thousand interest amortisation interest amortisation interest amortisation interest amortisation

As of 31.3.2017

Mortgages 108 156 465 108 156 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts payable 120 0 120 0 0 0 0 0 0

Derivative financial instruments 19 672 2 729 0 5 135 0 4 442 0 7 366 0

Other short-term liabilities 10 413 0 10 413 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total as of 31.3.2017 138 360 3 194 118 688 5 135 0 4 442 0 7 366 0

As of 31.3.2016

Mortgages 108 156 877 0 437 108 156 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts payable 316 0 316 0 0 0 0 0 0

Derivative financial instruments 24 715 3 443 0 5 517 0 5 101 0 10 654 0

Other short-term liabilities 5 452 0 5 452 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total as of 31.3.2016 138 639 4 320 5 768 5 954 108 156 5 101 0 10 654 0

In the next twelve months CHF 118.7 million (previous year CHF 5.8 million) of the liabilities reported above are due to mature. Of this 
amount, CHF 108.2 million (previous year CHF 0.0 million) relates to mortgages. Trade accounts payable and the other short-term lia-
bilities are incurred in the course of the Company’s operating activities and are covered by the short-term assets.

14. Future contractual maturities
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in CHF thousand Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As of 31.3.2017

Assets: Derivative financial instruments 0 0 0 0

Liabilities: Derivative financial instruments 19 672 0 19 672 0

As of 31.3.2016

Assets: Derivative financial instruments 0 0 0 0

Liabilities: Derivative financial instruments 24 715 0 24 715 0

The valuation of financial instruments is based upon the three-level fair value hierarchy, which is as follows:
Level 1 – Valuation based upon market prices for specific financial instruments.
Level 2 – Valuation based upon market prices for similar instruments or using valuation models which are based upon input parameters
observable on the market.
Level 3 – Valuation based upon models with significant input parameters which have a material impact on fair value and are not ob-
servable on the market.

15. Financial instruments –  
fair-value-hierarchie
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31.3.2017 31.3.2016

in CHF thousand Book value Market value Book value Market value

Financial Assets

Loans and receivables at amortized cost

Trade accounts receivable 39 61

Receivables from shareholder loan 13 071 13 062

Prepaid service charges 968 1 036

Other current assets 880 499

Cash and cash equivalents 1 056 2 744

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Derivative financial instruments 0 0

Total 16 014 17 402

Financial Liabilities

Financial Liabilities at amortized cost

Mortgages 108 156 108 156 108 156 108 156

Prepaid service charges 721 732

Accounts payable 120 316

Bank dispocredit 9 691 4 721

Other current liabilities 0 0

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Derivative financial instuments 19 672 24 715

Total 138 360 138 639

The book value of the category “Loans and receivables at amortized cost” is equal to the market value as the relevant positions all have 
short maturities. The reported value of financial assets reflects the maximum default risk disregarding any collateral, in the event that 
the contractual partners fail to meet their payment obligations. No concentration of default risks arising from business relations with 
individual debtors or groups of debtors has been identified.

16. Financial instruments by  
category
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In the category “Liabilities at amortized cost”, the reported amounts of the short-term liabilities reflect their market value. The fair values
of mortgages are calculated at the present values of the payment flows using the relevant yield curve (Level 2). In the case of the bond 
the fair value is based on the market price at the balance sheet date (Level 1), while for the shareholder loan the market value as of the 
balance sheet date reflects the discounted amount of the outstanding liabilities (Level 2).

in CHF thousand Notional 
 amounts 
31.3.2017

Notional 
 amounts 

31.3.2016 

Fair  
value 

31.3.2017

Fair  
value 

31.3.2016 

1 to 12 months 0 40 000 0 693

1 to 3 years 0 0 0 0

3 to 5 years 0 0 0 0

More than 5 years 80 000 80 000 19 672 24 022

Total 80 000 120 000 19 672 24 715

- of which liabilities 19 672 24 715

The Züblin Group uses interest rate swaps to reduce the cash flow risks arising from its exposure to movements in interest rates.
At the end of the year 2016/2017 there was one swap with a contract volume of CHF 80 million (previous year CHF 120 million). Due to 
the negative interest environment the effectiveness according to IAS 39 as of 31 March 2017 could no longer be confirmed. 

in CHF thousand Notional 
 amounts 
31.3.2017

Notional 
 amounts 

31.3.2016

Fair  
value 

31.3.2017

Fair  
value 

31.3.2016

Cash flow hedges 80 000 120 000 –19 672 –24 715

Total derivative financial instruments 80 000 120 000 –19 672 –24 715

- of which liabilities –19 672 –24 715

17. Derivative financial instruments

Cash Flow Hedges

Total derivative financial instruments
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In CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Interest term structure

1 to 12 months 108 156 28 156

1 to 3 years 0 0

3 to 5 years 0 0

More than 5 years 0 80 000

Total 108 156 108 156

Average interest rates 0.85% 0.80%

Contractual maturity dates of mortgages 

1 to 12 months 108 156 0

1 to 3 years 0 108 156

3 to 5 years 0 0

More than 5 years 0 0

Total 108 156 108 156

Average duration 0.5 1.5

Fair value of mortgages

Variable rate mortgages 108 156 108 156

Total 108 156 108 156

The Company currently has outstanding mortgages of CHF 108.2 million, which represents an LTV of 54.4% compared with 55.1% one 
year ago. The current mortgage expires in September 2017 and the status of the refinancing is currently well advanced. The closing of 
the refinancing shall take place after the sale of the German portfolio.

18. Mortgages

Overview mortgages as of 31.3.2017
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As at 31 March, 2017 Züblin Group’s real estate portfolio was financed entirely by variable-rate loans. In the current financial year mort-
gages of CHF 2.9 million were repaid in the discontinued operations Germany. 

Some of the mortgages include financial covenants which specify, among other things, adherence to certain financial indicators (debt 
service cover ratio, level of interest coverage, loan-to-value ratio and equity ratio). The financial covenants vary by country and loan 
contract, as summarized in the table below:

Switzerland Germany

Debt service cover ratio  -   140%

Interest coverage ratio  1.6  -   

Loan to value 65.0% 74.0%

Equity % 32.5%  -   

The Company monitors these covenants every quarter. The breach of a covenant may have a variety of consequences depending 
upon the individual contract, but in the first instance typically leads to a higher interest rate and/or an accelerated repayment schedule. 
The Company then normally has a certain period in which to correct the breach. If the breach has not been corrected at the end of 
this period, the bank normally demands a faster repayment schedule or a (partial) repayment of the loan. The mortgage agreement for 
the Swiss portfolio contains a clause which stipulates certain consequences, such as declaring the loan to be immediately due and 
repayable in the event that a single shareholder acquires more than 50% of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.

As of balance sheet date, the Company was in compliance with all of its covenants.

The table below summarizes the value of investment properties pledged as security for mortgages:

31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Book value of assets pledged (investment properties) 198 480 195 860

Credit drawn (debt secured) 108 156 108 156

Future rent receivables from properties, property insurance policies and shares in subsidiary companies have in some cases been 
pledged as security for mortgage loans over and above the charges under the mortgage.
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The Züblin Group has different pension schemes throughout the countries in which it operates. These schemes vary according to 
local laws and employment regulations. In all countries outside of Switzerland, the plans are defined contribution plans. In the past 
twelve months, expenditures totalling CHF 0.2 million (previous year CHF 0.3 million) for all defined contribution plans were recorded. 
In Switzerland, the pension plan of Züblin Immobilien Management AG has been designated as a defined benefit plan under IAS 19. 

Swiss pension schemes are governed by the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ and Disability Pension Plans 
(BVG). The pension plan is financed by contributions from both employer and employees. The BVG requires pension schemes to be run 
as legally independent institutions. The pension scheme is headed by a board of trustees composed of an equal number of employer 
and employee representatives. It is responsible for determining and implementing the investment strategy.

The following amounts are based upon the Project Unit Credit Method:

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Pension liabilities (present value) 2 004 2 140

Pension assets at market value 1 666 1 578

Pension liabilities (technical deficit) –338 –562

The above amount has been recorded under “Other non-current liabilities”.

19. Employee retirement  
benefit plan
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The pension liabilities and assets changed as follows in the Züblin Group’s consolidated balance sheet:

in CHF thousand 2016/2017 2015/2016

Pension liabilities (present value) at 1.4. 2 140 1 645

Current service costs 162 199

Employees' contributions 98 109

Interest expenses 11 15

Benefits (paid) / deposited –118 119

Past service cost 1 –68

Actuarial gains/losses –290 122

Pension liabilities (present value) at 31.3. 2 004 2 140

Pension assets at market value at 1.4. 1 578 1 236

Expected income on plan assets 8 11

Employer contributions 146 164

Employees' contributions 98 109

Benefits (paid) / deposited –118 119

Actuarial gains/losses –46 –61

Pension assets at market value at 31.3. 1 666 1 578
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The following table details the cover of the defined benefit pension plan and the impact of adjustments in the expected or actual values 
of the pension liabilities and assets:

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Expected contribution in the coming year 90 138

Penison expense is comprised of the following items:

- Current service cost 162 199

- Interest expense 4 4

- Past service cost 0 –68

Pension expenses 166 135

The remeasurement of the net pension obligation reported in other comprehensive income breaks down as follows:

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Actuarial gains/losses on pension liabilities 290 –122

Actuarial gains/losses on plan assets –46 –60

Defined Benefit Cost recognised in OCI 244 –182
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The calculation of the Group’s pension liabilities is based on the following assumptions:

31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Discount rate 0.70% 0.50%

Expected future salary increases 1.00% 1.00%

Expected future pension increases 0.00% 0.00%

Life expectancy in years at age of retirement (man/woman) BVG 2015 GT BVG 2010 GT

A sensitivity analysis was carried out using constant assumptions for the most important assumptions used to calculate the pension 
liabilities.

31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Pension liabilities (present value) at 31.3.  2 004  2 140 

- Discount rate -0.25%  2 084  2 246 

- Discount rate +0.25%  1 929  2 043 

- Expected salary increases -0.25%  1 996  2 131 

- Expected salary increases +0.25%  2 010  2 150 

- Life expectancy in years - 1 year  2 048  2 186 

- Life expectancy in years - 1 year  1 960  2 095 

Asset allocation: 100% of the assets are managed and invested by a reinsurance company. Furthermore, the Company has insured a 
minimum return on its pension assets. Therefore, a detailed asset allocation is not presented.
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In connection with the rental of its business premises, Züblin Immobilien Management AG has entered into fixed rental commitments 
up to 30 June 2019 at the latest, totalling CHF 0.4 million (previous year CHF 0.1 million). For the reporting financial year, the rental 
payments recorded in the income statement totalled CHF 0.2 million (previous year CHF 0.3 million).

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Liabilities from long-term rental contracts

1 to 12 months 162 73

1 to 3 years 202 0

3 to 5 years 0 0

more than 5 years 0 0

 In accordance with IAS 24, related parties for the reporting financial year included:

– The Board of Directors
– Members of Züblin Group Management
– Lamesa Holding SA, Panama

Shareholdings by related parties as of 31 March 2017
– Shareholdings by the Board of Directors and the Group Management are disclosed in detail in note 23 (see pages 117 to 118).

Transactions with related parties and significant shareholders
Loan to shareholder
The Group closed a loan facility agreement with Lamesa Holding SA, Panama up to a maximum amout of CHF 13 million. The loan 
bears an interest rate of 3% p.a and is limited in time ending on 29 January 2018. The right to cancellation within 20 working days re-
mains reserved to ZIHAG. As at balance sheet day the loan was drawn in the amount of CHF 13 million. This amount as well as accrued 
interest in the amount of CHF 96 thousand (see also note 5) are included in the line item “Other current assets”. 

There were no other transactions with related parties or significant shareholders in financial year 2016/2017. Nor were any advisory 
fees paid to related parties or significant shareholders over and above the remuneration disclosed on pages 115 to 116. The Board of 
Directors and Group Management continually monitors potential conflicts of interest. 

Loans to members of governing bodies
No loans have been granted to members of the Board of Directors or the Züblin Group Management.

20. Liabilities from long-term rental 
contracts

21. Related parties
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in CHF Basic 
compensation

Subsidiaries1 Total

Financial year 2016/2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 3 100 000 0 100 000

Vladislav Osipov, Member 3 70 000 0 70 000

Iakov Tesis, Member until 21 March 2017 70 000 0 70 000

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 3 70 000 13 545 83 545

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 70 000 0 70 000

Total Board of Directors 380 000 13 545 393 545

Financial year 2015/2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 2 3 100 000 16 397 116 397

Urs Ledermann, Member until 30 June 2015 17 500 0 17 500

Vladislav Osipov, Member 3 70 000 13 117 83 117

Iakov Tesis, Member 70 000 10 931 80 931

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 3 70 000 13 421 83 421

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 70 000 0 70 000

Total Board of Directors 397 500 53 866 451 366

1  Board compensation at the subsidiary level.
2  This member of the Board of Directors was also a member of the Board of Directors of Officiis Properties, Paris (former Züblin Immobilière France SA).
3  This member of the Board of Directors is also a member of the Board of Directors of ZIAG Immobilien AG, Dusseldorf.

22. Compensation

Compensation of the members of the Board 
of Directors
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in CHF Basic 
compensation

Bonus 
in cash

Employers  
contributions 1

Total

Financial year 2016/2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 625 000 312 500 130 958 1 068 458

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO until 31 March 2017 360 000 0 68 846 428 846

Roland Friederich, CFO since 1 December 2016 73 333 36 667 14 300 124 300

Total Group Management 1 058 333 349 167 214 104 1 621 604

Financial year 2015/2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 625 000 150 000 139 162 914 162

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO 360 000 50 000 58 586 468 586

Pierre Essig, CEO France until 3 June 2015 45 095 0 7 328 52 423

Total Group Management 1 030 095 200 000 205 076 1 435 171

1  thereof contribution to pension schemes (AHV, pension fund) CHF 199'483 (prior year: CHF 187'002)

Compensation of the Group Managment
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Shares 
ZIHAG 1

As of 31.3.2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 6 666

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Iakov Tesis, Member 0

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 63

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Mitglied 0

Total Board of Directors 6 729

As of 31.3.2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 6 666

Urs Ledermann, Member 0

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Iakov Tesis, Member 63

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 0

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 0

Total Board of Directors 6 729

1  Shares ZIHAG = shares in Züblin Immobilien Holding AG. 

23. Shareholdings

Shareholdings of the Board of Directors
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Shares 
ZIHAG 1

As of 31.3.2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 6 666

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO until 31 March 2017 0

Roland Friederich, CFO since 1 December 2016 0

Total Group Management 6 666

As of 31.3.2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 6 666

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO 0

Pierre Essig, CEO France 0

Total Group Management 6 666

1  Shares ZIHAG = shares in Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.

No significant events have been taken place since the balance sheet date.

Shareholdings of the Group Management

24. Events after the balance sheet 
date
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Company Code City, Address Currency Capital Participation1 Function Owner of

Switzerland

H1 Züblin Immobilien Holding AG Zurich, Claridenstrasse 20 CHF  59 724 486 H Participations in I1, M1, S1, I2, D1, S2, S3

I1 Züblin Immobilien AG Zurich, Claridenstrasse 20 CHF  27 000 000 100% I Investment Properties No. 1-5

M1 Züblin Immobilien Management AG Zurich, Claridenstrasse 20 CHF  100 000 100% M

O1 Weilimmo AG Zurich, Claridenstrasse 20 CHF  1 000 000 100% O Investment Property No. 14

Germany

S1 ZUB Immobilien GmbH Dusseldorf, Rossstrasse 96 EUR 50 000 100% S Participations in I2, O1, O2

I2 ZIAG Immobilien AG Dusseldorf, Rossstrasse 96 EUR 10 000 000 100% I Investment Properties No. 6-12, 15-17

O2 Mittlerer Pfad 2-4 Immobilien GmbH Dusseldorf, Rossstrasse 96 EUR 25 000 100% O Investment Property No. 13

France 2

D1 Officiis Properties Neuilly-sur-Seine, 20-26 bd du Parc EUR 17 227 970 33.47% D

Netherlands

S2 / IA Züblin Real Estate Holding NV Utrecht, Maliebaan 89 EUR 10 213 817 100% IA

Belgium

S3 / IA Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA Brussels, 4 rue de la presse EUR 200 753 100% IA

H  = Holding company
S = Subholding company
I  = Real estate company (owner of various properties)
O  = Real estate company (ownder of one property)
M = Management company
D = Not consolidated company
IA = Inactive
1  The holding percentage corresponds to the total (direct and indirect) participation of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.
2  Former Züblin Immobilière France SA 
2  On a diluted basis 17.26%.

List of  
Group companies
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To the General Meeting of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Zurich
Zurich, 17 May 2017

Statutory auditor’s report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), which com-
prise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2017, the consolidated income statement and the statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholder’s equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 53 to 119) give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law as well as  article 17 of the Directive on 
Financial Reporting (DRF) of SIX Swiss Exchange.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consol-
idated Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, 
as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, 
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed 
to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the consol-
idated financial statements.

Report of the   
statutory auditor
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2017, the consolidated income statement and the statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in shareholder’s equity and the consolidated cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages x to y) give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law as well as  
article 17 of the Directive on Financial Reporting (DRF) of SIX Swiss Exchange. 
 

 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs) and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the 
requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

  

 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter 
is provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these 
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond 
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
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 Valuation of investment properties

 Risk
  Valuation of investment properties was important for our audit as the valuation process contains material estimates and the 

respective investment properties with TCHF 198’480 (prior year: TCHF 195’860) represent the most significant position within 
the consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2017. As disclosed in note 8 Investment properties as well as in the 
section critical accounting estimates and judgements under 3.1, the fair values were derived by an external appraiser based 
on a discounted cash flow-method. These appraisals are based on various assumptions, particularly with regard to market 
rents and discount factors.  

 Our audit response
  Among other audit procedures we evaluated the objectivity, independence and competence of the external appraiser as well 

as the used valuation model. Additionally, we verified the correctness of selected investment property specific data, which 
was used in the valuation. By discussions with management and comparison with market data, we assessed the key assump-
tions used by the external appraiser. For the verification of the investment property values of the discontinued operation, we 
based our assessment on market data that became available from third parties during the sales process. 

Other information in the annual report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information comprises all information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements, the 
remuneration report and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information in the annual 
report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accord-
ance with IFRS, article 17 of the Directive on Financial Reporting (DRF) of SIX Swiss Exchange and the provisions of Swiss law, and for 
such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located at the website of EXPERTsu-
isse: http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system 
exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of 
Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Christian Krämer   Daniel Lanfranconi
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
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EPRA  
Performance Measures

The EPRA (European Public Real Estate Association) has developed Best Practice Recommendations for Reporting, Accounting and
Corporate Governance in the listed real estate sector in recent years. The aim is to ensure consistency and transparency throughout
the real estate sector. Züblin is also disclosing a number of other company-specific figures. 

in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016

Earnings of shareholders of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG 29 926 –16 326

Adjustments:

Change in market value of investment properties –2 369 –5 652

Result from the sale of investment properties 0 27

Deferred taxes in respect of EPRA Earnings adjustments 1 232 1 740

Currency differences 492 1 665

Result from discontinued operations –27 813 20 091

Non-controlling interests in respect of the above 0 –2 618

EPRA Earnings of shareholders 1 468 –1 073

Average number of outstanding shares 3 318 027 2 863 557

EPRA Earnings per share  0.44  –0.37 

A EPRA Earnings per share
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in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Number of issued shares 3 318 027 3 318 027

Number of treasury shares 0 0

Number of outstanding shares at balance sheet date 3 318 027 3 318 027

Equity of shareholders 122 172 89 533

Equity per share  36.82  26.98 

Equity of shareholders 122 172 89 533

Adjustments:

Fair Value of derivative financial instruments 1 19 672 29 133

Deferred taxes (net) 2 8 766 7 198

EPRA Net Asset Value (NAV) of shareholders 150 610 125 864

EPRA NAV per share  45.39  37.93 

EPRA Equity 150 610 125 864

Total Assets 383 755 356 295

EPRA Equity ratio 39.2% 35.3%

1  Agrees with the total of the short-term and long-term derivative financial instruments shown in the consolidated balance sheet.
2  This amount includes all deferred taxes and agrees with the net amount of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as stated in the consolidated balance sheet.

B. EPRA Equity 
and EPRA Equity ratio
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in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

EPRA Net Asset Value (NAV) of shareholders 150 610 125 864

Adjustments:

Fair value of derivative financial instruments –19 672 –29 133

Deferred taxes (net) –8 766 –7 198

EPRA NNNAV 122 172 89 533

Number of outstanding shares at balance sheet date 3 318 027 3 318 027

EPRA NNNAV per share  36.82  26.98 

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Investment properties 357 182 331 251

Adjustments:

Investment properties discontinued operations –158 702 –135 391

Investment properties available for lease 198 480 195 860

Adjustments:

Transaction costs in case of sale 0 0

Gross-up valuation of Investment properties available for lease (A) 198 480 195 860

Annual rental income investment properties available for lease (B) 8 117 7 934

Property expenses –762 –668

Net Annual rental income (C) 7 355 7 266

Adjustment for lease incentives n.a. n.a.

"Topped-up" Net annual rental income (D) 7 355 7 266

EPRA Gross Initial Yield (GIY) (B/A) 4.1% 4.1%

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) (C/A) 3.7% 3.7%

EPRA "topped-up" NIY (D/A) 3.7% 3.7%

C. EPRA Triple Net Asset Value 
(NNNAV) 

D. EPRA Net Yield Disclosure
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in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Continuing operations

Estimated market rental income of vacant space (A) 961 1 127

Estimated market rental value of the whole portfolio (B) 8 547 8 660

EPRA Vacancy rate (A/B) 11.2% 13.0%

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Continuing operations

Estimated annual rental income of vacant space (A) 961 1 127

Projected annual rental income of the whole portfolio (B) 9 078 9 061

Züblin Vacancy rate (A/B) 10.6% 12.4%

E.1 EPRA Vacancy Rate  
  

E.2 Züblin Vacancy Rate 
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On behalf of the management of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, the Swiss subsidiary of Jones Lang LaSalle (“JLL“) has valued all in-
vestment properties of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG or its affiliated companies (“Züblin Group“) in Switzerland for accounting purposes 
as at 31 March 2017.

The valuers hereby confirm that the valuations have been performed in accordance with national and international standards and 
guidelines as set out in the International Valuation Standards (IVS) and the standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(RICS / Red Book).

The market values determined for the investment properties represent Fair Value as defined in the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) on the basis of revised IAS 40 (Investment Property) and IFRS 13 (Fair Value Measurement).

The Fair Value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

An exit price is the selling price as stated in the purchase contract on which the parties have agreed.

The Fair Value valuation assumes that the hypothetical transaction for the asset being valued takes place on the market with the great-
est volume and the largest business activity (principal market), as well as transactions of sufficient frequency and volume occur so that 
sufficient pricing information is available for the market (active market). If such a market cannot be identified, a market for the asset is 
assumed that maximises the selling price.

The Fair Value is determined on the basis of the best possible use of a property (highest and best use). The best use is the use that 
maximises the property’s value. This assumption of use must be technically / physically possible, legally permissible and financially 
feasible. As a maximisation of utility is assumed in the determination of Fair Value, the best use may differ from the actual or planned 
use. Future capital expenditures that will improve or increase the value of a property are taken into account appropriately in the Fair 
Value Measurement.

1 Instruction

2 Valuation standards

3 Accounting standards

4 Definition of “Fair Value”

5 Realisation of “Fair Value”

Property Valuation Report 
Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL)
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The application of the highest and best use approach is based on the principle of materiality of the potential difference in value in 
relation to the value of the individual property and of the total real estate assets, as well as in relation to the possible absolute value 
difference. Potential increased real estate values that lie within the usual valuation tolerance of a single valuation are considered to be 
insignificant and neglected as a result.

The determination of Fair Value is dependent on the quality and reliability of measurement parameters, with decreasing quality and 
reliability: Level 1 market price, level 2 modified market price and level 3 model-based valuation. For a Fair Value appraisal of a property, 
different levels for different application parameters can be applied simultaneously. The entire valuation is classified according to the 
lowest level of the Fair Value hierarchy, which contains the main valuation parameters.

The valuation of investment properties of the Züblin Group are performed with a model-based valuation in accordance with level 3, on 
the basis of input parameters not directly observable on the market. Based on this level, adapted level 2 input parameters are used (e.g. 
market rents, operational and maintenance costs, discount / capitalisation rates). Not observable inputs are only used when relevant 
observable inputs are not available.

Valuation procedures have been applied that are appropriate in the particular circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to determine the Fair Values, in which the use of relevant observable inputs are maximised and those unobservable inputs are mini-
mised.

The market valuations of properties that are completely or partially vacant are calculated on the assumption that a re-letting takes a 
certain period of time. Loss of rent, rent-free periods and other incentives for new tenants that meet the market standard are taken into 
account in the valuation.

To determine the market value across all countries an income-based approach was applied. In this case, the potential yield of a prop-
erty is determined on the basis of future revenues and expenditures. The resulting cash flows correspond to the current and projected 
cash flows after deducting all non-recoverable costs to the tenant (before taxes and borrowing costs). The interest rate used is based 
on the rate of long-term, risk-free investments and a specific risk premium, which reflects the current situation on the transaction mar-
ket, the local real estate market and the characteristics of the property.

6 Valuation Method
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The discounted cash flow method (DCF method) was used where the annual cash flows are discounted to the valuation date. At the end 
of the period in which the cash flows are projected in detail, a residual value (exit value) is determined on basis of a perpetual annuity of 
the exit cash flow. The market value is calculated as the sum of the discounted net cash flows. The market value is the sum of the net 
cash flows discounted to the valuation date beyond the detailed analysis period and the discounted residual value.

All properties are known to JLL due to the inspections carried out and the documents provided. JLL conducted a detailed analysis in 
terms of quality and risks (attractiveness and lettability of the rented premises, construction and condition, micro and macro location). 
The properties are visited by JLL at acquisition and every three years or upon completion of larger refurbishments thereafter.

A total of 5 properties were valued as at 31 March 2017. The Fair Value of the properties according to IAS 40 and IFRS 13 is estimated 
as at the valuation date as follows:

CHF 198,480,000 (Gross Fair Value)

Gross Fair Value: The Fair Value according to paragraph 25 IFRS 13 is not corrected by the transaction costs incurred by the purchaser. 
This corresponds to the Swiss valuation practice.

JLL confirms that the valuations have been created independently and neutrally and are intended only for the aforementioned purpose. 
JLL assumes no liability to third parties.

JLL Switzerland
Zurich, 3 May 2017

Daniel Schneider MRICS    Daniel Macht MRICS
Senior Vice President    Vice President

7 Basis of the Valuations

8 Results

9  Independency and Purpose
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The following general assumptions apply for the valuations of the properties.

– The valuations are based on rent rolls of the Züblin Group as at 1 April 2017.

– In the valuation models, unless otherwise specified, an inflation rate of 0.50% is assumed.

– With regard to operating expenses, it is assumed that ancillary expenses are treated separately and thus tenant related costs are 
borne by the tenants.

– The discount rate and capitalisation rate is based on a risk-adjusted interest rate. The respective rate is determined individually for 
each investment property by use of benchmark data from arm’s-length transactions. In case there are not sufficient comparable 
transactions, the discount and capitalisation rates are determined taking into account the current market environment, the macro 
and micro location, type of use, cash flow risk and any other specific factors.

– As at 31 March 2017 the following rates have been applied:

 –   The discount rates are between 3.50% and 5.20%, amounting to a capital-weighted discount rate of 3.95%.

 –   The capitalisation rates are between 3.00% and 4.70%, amounting to a capital-weighted capitalisation rate of 3.45%.

Appendix – Valuation  
Assumptions
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in CHF thousand

Notes

1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017 

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016 

Dividend income 2 0 0

Financial income 3 2 257 6 825

Currency translation adjustments –1 032 3 030

Total income 1 225 9 855

Other operating expenses –3 697 –2 562

Value adjustments on non-current assets 2 16 000 –525

Financial expense 0 –6 487

Total expenses 12 303 –9 574

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 13 528 281

Income taxes 0 0

Earnings 13 528 281

Information contained in the notes to the annual financial statements is an integral part of the annual financial statements.

Income statement  
Züblin Immobilien Holding AG
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in CHF thousand
Notes

31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

Current assets

Cash 577 1 909

Other current receivables 6 6 073 4 263

Prepaid expenses 137 177

Total current assets 6 787 6 349

Non-Current assets

Financial Assets 5 44 977 28 926

Investments 4 90 947 90 947

Total non-current assets 135 924 119 873

Total assets 142 711 126 222

Information contained in the notes to the annual financial statements is an integral part of the annual financial statements.

Assets

Balance sheet  
Züblin Immobilien Holding AG
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in CHF thousand
Notes

31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

Liabilities

Trade payables 0 159

Other current liabilities Group companies 3 346 326

Accrued expenses 490 390

Current liabilities 3 836 875

Provision for unrealized currency translation adjustments 1 263 1 263

Non-current liabilities 1 263 1 263

Total liabilities 5 099 2 138

Equity

Share capital 7 74 656 74 656

Statutory capital reserves 170 558 170 558

Voluntary Reserves

 - Other reserves 3 410 3 410

 - Retained loss 8 –124 540 –124 821

 - Earnings from the period 8 13 528 281

Total equity 137 612 124 084

Total equity and liabilities 142 711 126 222

Information contained in the notes to the annual financial statements is an integral part of the annual financial statements.

Shareholders’ equity and  
liabilities
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General
Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Zurich (ZIHAG) is the parent company of the Züblin Immobilien Group. The Group’s activities are focused 
on the management of its international real estate portfolio. As of 31th March 2017 the Züblin Immobilien Group does employ 11 em-
ployees (previous year: 12), thereof 4 employees in the discontinued operations Germany (previous year: 5).

Acounting law
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the new Swiss Law on Accounting and Financial Report-
ing (Title 32 of the Swiss Code of Obligations (hereafter: CO)). ZIHAG prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
a recognized accounting standard (International Financial Reporting Standards). Therefore and in accordance with 961d CO ZIHAG 
has decided to forego presenting additional information on interest-bearing liabilities and audit fees in the notes as well as a cashflow 
statement and management report.

Group companies are all companies in which ZIHAG directly or indirectly has more than 20% of the voting rights or over which it exerts 
a significant influence. 

The significant accounting policies, which are not prescribed by law, are described below. 

Financial Assets
Financial assets include long-term loans granted to Group companies. Loans granted in foreign currency are valued at the closing rate, 
with unrealized losses recorded, whereas unrealized gains are not recognized.

Investments
Investments are stated at cost less any provisions for impairment. 

Interest-bearing liabilities (current and non-current)
Interest-bearing liabilities are stated at their nominal value. Prepaid interest and issue costs are recorded in prepaid expenses and 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective term. 

1. Principles

Notes to the 
financial statements
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Exchange rates

in CHF Balance sheet rate Balance sheet rate Average rate Average rate

31.3.2017 31.3.2016 1.4.2016 
bis 31.3.2017 

1.4.2015 
bis 31.3.2016 

1 USD 1.0110 0.9648 0.9875 0.9723

1 EUR 1.0696 1.0931 1.0836 1.0737

in CHF thousand 1.4.2016 
to 31.3.2017 

1.4.2015 
to 31.3.2016 

Value adjustments on non-current assets 16 000 –525

Net income from investments 16 000 –525

As in the previous period in the financial year 2016/2017 no dividends were paid to Züblin Immobilien Holding AG. The overall value 
adjustment amounts to CHF -16 million (previous year CHF 0.5 million) and fully relates to a reversal of depreciation on the German 
Group loan. In the previous year CHF 19.5 million were related to write downs of loans to Group companies and CHF -19 million to value 
adjustments on investments. 

Financial income of CHF 2.3 million (previous period CHF 6.8 million) comprises of interest earned on loans to Group companies.

2. Dividend income and value     
adjustments on non-current 
assets

3. Financial income
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Name Location Currency  
Capital

31.3.2017 
Ownership in  

Capital /  
Votes

Capital 31.3.2016 
Ownership in  

Capital /  
Votes

Züblin Immobilien AG Zurich CHF 270 000 100.00% 270 000 100.00%

Züblin Immobilien Management AG Zurich CHF 100 000 100.00% 100 000 100.00%

Officiis Properties 1 Paris EUR 26 531 074 33.47% 26 531 074 33.47%

ZUB Immobilien GmbH Dusseldorf EUR 50 000 100.00% 50 000 100.00%

ZIAG Immobilien AG 2 Dusseldorf EUR 10 000 000 5.50% 10 000 000 5.50%

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV Diemen EUR 10 213 817 100.00% 10 213 817 100.00%

Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA Brussels EUR 200 753 100.00% 200 753 100.00%

1  Former Züblin Immobilière France SA 
2  94.5% of the capital and voting rights are held indirectly through ZUB Immobilien GmbH. 

As of July 31, 2015, the Group’s shareholding in Officiis Properties has decreased to 33.5% (diluted 17.3%). Officiis Properties is ac-
countat for as an investment in associates for consolidation purposes.

4. Investments
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in CHF thousand 
 
Group company

Transaction  
Currency 

Interest rate 31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

ZUB Immobilien GmbH EUR 4.70% 49 286 48 445

ZUB Immobilien GmbH - allowance EUR 4.70% 0 –16 000

ZIAG Immobilien AG EUR 4.70% 4 875 4 875

Currency translation adjustments –9 361 –8 393

Total Germany 44 800 28 926

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV EUR 0.00% 53 272 48 214

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV - allowance EUR 0.00% –53 093 –48 214

Currency translation adjustments –3 0

Total Netherlands 176 0

Total 44 977 28 926

As of April 5, 2016 for the purpose of financial reorganization the outstanding Intercompany loans and short term receivables against 
Züblin Real Estate Holding NV were combined in a single loan claim of CHF 53 million. This allocation increased the loan compared to 
the previous year by CHF 4.9 million to CHF 53.1 million. Under the new loan agreement an interest claim was waived until a financial 
improvement of the company becomes apparent.

The value adjustment of CHF 16.0 million against ZUB Immobilien GmbH was completely reversed as of March 31, 2017, since the loans 
are considered as fully recoverable due to the planned disposal of the German portfolio.

5. Financial Assets 
Loans to Group companies
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in CHF thousand Transaction  
Currency 

31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

Züblin Immobilien AG CHF 0 76

ZIAG Immobilien AG EUR 0 64

ZUB Immobilien GmbH EUR 1 956 52

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV EUR 117 71

from Group companies 2 073 263

from Shareholder 4 000 4 000

Total 6 073 4 263

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG granted a loan in the amount of CHF 4.0 million to Lamesa Holding S.A. This loan bears an interest of 
3% p.a. and is limited in time ending on 29 January 2018. The right to cancellation within 20 working days remains reserved to ZIHAG.

6. Other current receivables
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Date Number of shares in CHF thousand

Issued shares at a nominal value CHF 1.00  31.3.15  59 724 486  59 724 

Capital reduction through par value reduction from 
CHF 1.00 to CHF 0.05

 1.12.15  -    –56 737 

Ordinary capital increase through issuing of new shares 
at nominal value of CHF 0.05

 1.12.15  1 433 387 664  71 669 

Reverse stock split at the ratio of 450:1 leading to a 
change in nominal value to CHF 22.50

 3.3.16  –1 489 794 123  -   

Issued shares at a nominal value CHF 22.50  31.3.16  3 318 027  74 656 

Changes in capital structure in financial year 
2016/2017

No changes in capital structure in financial year 
2016/2017

 -    -   

Issued shares at a nominal value CHF 22.50  31.3.17  3 318 027  74 656 

Authorized share capital

authorized at EGM 29.10.2015  (adjusted as a result of 
reverse stock split EGM 29.2.16) until 28.10.17

 1 659 013  37 328 

Conditional share capital

authorized at EGM 29.10.2015  (adjusted as a result 
of reverse stock split EGM 29.2.16) available for stock 
option plan

 164 444  3 700 

7. Share capital
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in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Retained loss previous year available to AGM –124 540 –187 064

Allocation to legal reserve 1 16 000

Offset of retained loss 1 44 000

Balance brought forward –124 540 –127 064

Allocation to / Release of reserve for treasury shares 2 243

Earnings from financial year 13 528 281

Retained loss –111 012 –124 540

1  Offset of loss carryforwards against the capital contribution reserves in order to reduce the retained loss of CHF 187'064'165.55 in accordance with the AGM resolution of 30 June 2015.

in CHF thousand 31.3.2017 31.3.2016 

Guarantees in favor of subsidiaries 23 494 26 388

The guarantees in favor of Group companies relate to mortgages in Germany. They were reduced by CHF 2.89 million as a result of 
amortizations and currency effects.

Number of issued shares in the Commercial Register as of 31 March 2017: 3 318 027
Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is aware of the following shareholders with holdings exceeding a disclosure threshold:

 31.3.2017

Lamesa Holding SA, Panama 40.74%

Ketom AG, Wollerau 5.55%

8. Retained loss and earnings  
for the year

9. Contingent liabilities

10. Significant shareholders
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Shares 
ZIHAG 1

As of 31.3.2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 6 666

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Iakov Tesis, Member 0

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 63

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Mitglied 0

Total Board of Directors 6 729

As of 31.3.2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 6 666

Urs Ledermann, Member 0

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Iakov Tesis, Member 63

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 0

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 0

Total Board of Directors 6 729

1  Shares ZIHAG = shares in Züblin Immobilien Holding AG. 

11. Shareholdings

Shareholdings of the Board of Directors
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Shares 
ZIHAG 1

As of 31.3.2017

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 6 666

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO until 31 March 2017 0

Roland Friederich, CFO since 1 December 2016 0

Total Group Management 6 666

As of 31.3.2016

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 6 666

Thomas Wapp, CFO and COO 0

Pierre Essig, CEO France 0

Total Group Management 6 666

1  Shares ZIHAG = shares in Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG belongs to a VAT group and is jointly and severally liable with Züblin Immobilien AG and Züblin Immobilien 
Management AG for the VAT payments arising from this VAT Group’s activities. 

No significant events have taken place since the balance sheet date.

Shareholdings of the Group Management

12. Joint and several liability

13. Events after the balance sheet 
date
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in CHF 31.3.2017 31.3.2016

Net loss 

Brought forward from previous year –124 540 220.54 –187 064 165.55

Legal reserve 16 000 000.00

Offset with statutory capital reserves 44 000 000.00

Allocation to / Release of reserve for treasury shares 2 243 231.01

Earnings from financial year 13 527 756.64 280 714.00

Retained loss available to AGM –111 012 463.90 –124 540 220.54

Approbation 

Offset against capital contribution reserves 0.00 0.00

Balance brought forward –111 012 463.90 –124 540 220.54

Proposal of the Board of Directors   
for the approbation of the net loss
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To the General Meeting of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Zurich

Zurich, 17 May 2017

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, 
income statement and notes (pages 132 to 144), for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss law 
and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control 
system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The 
Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant 
to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incor-
poration. 

Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our 
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

Report of the  
statutory auditor
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report, including in relation to these mat-
ters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the 
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

 Valuation of investments in subsidiaries and intercompany loans

  Risk
  The main function of the company is purchasing, administrating and selling of investments in subsidiaries. For statutory pur-

poses the company is obliged to assess the valuation of investments in subsidiaries as well as intercompany loans individually. 
Investments in subsidiaries as well as intercompany loans represented TCHF 135‘924 (prior year TCHF 119‘873) and as such 
about 95% of total assets as at 31 March 2017. We assessed the investments in subsidiaries and the intercompany loans as 
material for our audit as significant estimations (e.g. growth rates, revenue-, margin developments and discount rates) formed 
the basis in evaluating recoverability.

 Refer to note 4 Investments in subsidiaries and 5 Intercompany loans.

  Our audit response
  We chose a substantive approach to audit this position. We examined the company’s process to assess the valuation of their 

investments in subsidiaries and intercompany loans. We analyzed the data used as a basis to evaluate the recoverability of 
the investments in subsidiaries and intercompany loans. The aforementioned substantive audit procedures gave us sufficient 
assurance about the recoverability as well disclosure of the investments in subsidiaries. 

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 
728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists, 
which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd
  
Christian Krämer     Daniel Lanfranconi
Licensed audit expert    Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)   
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matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 
context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our 
report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance 
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
financial statements. 

 
Valuation of investments in subsidiaries and intercompany loans 

Risk The main function of the company is purchasing, administrating and 
selling of investments in subsidiaries. For statutory purposes the 
company is obliged to assess the valuation of investments in 
subsidiaries as well as intercompany loans individually. Investments in 
subsidiaries as well as intercompany loans represented TCHF 135‘924 
(prior year TCHF 119‘873) and as such about 95% of total assets as at 
31 March 2017. We assessed the investments in subsidiaries and the 
intercompany loans as material for our audit as significant estimations 
(e.g. growth rates, revenue-, margin developments and discount rates) 
formed the basis in evaluating recoverability. 
 
Refer to note 4 Investments in subsidiaries and 5 Intercompany loans. 

Our audit 
response 

We chose a substantive approach to audit this position. We examined 
the company’s process to assess the valuation of their investments in 
subsidiaries and intercompany loans. We analyzed the data used as a 
basis to evaluate the recoverability of the investments in subsidiaries 
and intercompany loans. The aforementioned substantive audit 
procedures gave us sufficient assurance about the recoverability as well 
disclosure of the investments in subsidiaries.  
 

 

Report on other legal requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor 
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there 
are no circumstances incompatible with our independence. 
 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of 
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
 
 

   Ernst & Young Ltd 
   

Christian Krämer  Daniel Lanfranconi 
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert 
(Auditor in charge)   
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EBITDA
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) excluding net changes in market value of investment properties, result from the sale of in-
vestment properties and depreciation.

EPRA Earnings
Earnings excluding net changes in market value of investment properties, result from the sale of investment properties, changes in fair 
value of derivative financial instruments and non-controlling interests.

EPRA Return on equity
Ratio of earnings to the EPRA Net Asset Value at the beginning of the financial year adjusted for any dividends and/or capital transactions.

Market value of investment properties
The market value of investment properties as assessed by independent external real estate appraisers. In Germany after deduction of 
the transaction costs payable on a sale.

EPRA Equity
Equity excluding fair value of derivative financial instruments and the net amount of deferred taxes.

EPRA Equity of shareholders
EPRA Equity excluding non-controlling interests.

EPRA Equity Ratio
Ratio of EPRA Equity to total assets.

Income statement

Balance sheet

Definition of terms
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Number of outstanding shares
Number of shares of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG in issue less treasury shares. In the case of figures relating to the balance sheet the 
number of treasury shares at the balance sheet date is deducted, while in the case of the income statement, the average number of 
treasury shares is used. 

EPRA Earnings
EPRA Earnings divided by average number of outstanding shares.

EPRA Net Asset Value (NAV)
EPRA Net Asset Value of the shareholders of ZIHAG divided by the average number of outstanding shares.

EPRA Triple Net Asset Value (NNNAV)
EPRA Net Asset Value of the shareholders of ZIHAG less the fair value of derivative financial instruments, the net amount of deferred 
taxes and the difference between the fair value and cost of mortgages divided by the number of outstanding shares at the balance 
sheet date.

Annual rental income 
Annualized gross rental income based on the contractual rents passing at the balance sheet date. This amount does not include any
recoverable costs which can be charged to tenants.

Projected annual rental income
Annual rental income added to the estimated annual rental income of vacant space.

Estimated market rental value (ERV)
All rentable space of the whole portfolio calculated at market rent.

Analysis of the various yields on rental income

Investment properties available for lease
Investment properties excluding redevelopment projects and investment properties held for sale.

EPRA Gross Initial Yield
Ratio of annual rental income of investment properties available for lease to the investment properties available for lease as of the
balance sheet date.

Key figures per share

Portfolio
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EPRA Net Initial Yield
Ratio of annual rental income excluding real estate expenses and maintenance and repairs of investment properties available for lease
to the market value of the investment properties available for lease inclusive of the estimated sale transaction costs as of the balance
sheet date.

Analysis of the vacancy levels

Estimated annual rental income of vacant space
Vacant space in m2 calculated at market rent.

Züblin Vacancy rate
The estimated annual rental income of vacant space divided by the projected annual rental income.

EPRA Vacancy rate
The estimated annual rental income of vacant space divided by the estimated market rental value of the whole portfolio.

Vacancy rate (m2)
Vacant space as of the balance sheet date divided by the rentable space.



Züblin has published its semi-annual and annual reports on its website, which the 
company believes is the most user-friendly format. As a result, and for environmental 
reasons, the company has decided to no longer print these reports. This copy has been 
printed internally.

The semi-annual and annual reports are published in German and English. The 
binding version is the German version.



Züblin Immobilien Holding AG  
Klausstrasse 4 
CH-8008 Zurich

Phone +41 (0)44 206 29 39 
info@zueblin.ch 
www.zueblin.ch
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